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THE SPELLMAN FILES




PROLOGUE



San Francisco, Night

I duck into the parking garage, hoping to escape. But my boots echo on the slick cement, broadcasting my location to anyone listening. And I know they are listening. I make a mental note to myself not to wear these shoes again if there is a chance I’ll get involved in a pursuit.

I start to run up the spiral driveway of the garage, knowing they’ll never match my pace. The sound of my strained breath now masks the echo of my footsteps. Behind me, I hear nothing.

I stop in my tracks to listen more closely. One car door, then another, shuts and an engine turns over. I try to predict their next move as I scan the lot for Daniel’s car.

Then I spot it—a midnight blue BMW—eclipsed on either side by two enormous SUVs. I rush to the newly waxed four-door sedan and put the key in the lock.

The scream of the car alarm hits me like a punch in the stomach. I’m breathless for a moment as I recover. I had forgotten about the security system. I drive a twelve-year-old Buick that unlocks with a freakin’ key! the way it’s supposed to.

My thumb fumbles with the remote device until the siren stops. I can hear the other car inching up the driveway, moving slowly just to torture me. I finally press the button that unlocks the door.

Car Chase #3

The nondescript Ford sedan cuts past my vehicle, giving me enough time to screech out of the parking space before it blocks my path down the driveway. As I zoom out of the garage, I check my rearview mirror and see the Ford right on my tail.

I shoot across the street, making a sharp left. My foot hits the floor. I am surprised by the smooth, rapid acceleration of the luxury vehicle. I realize there are reasons people buy these cars beyond concerns of vanity. I remind myself not to get used to it.

The speedometer reads 50 mph in no time flat. The Ford is about a hundred meters back, but closing in. I slow down to get them close on my tail and then overshoot the right turn onto Sacramento Street, but they know all my tricks and stay right behind me.

Speeding over two hills, the BMW, followed by the Ford, reaches downtown in record time. I check the fuel gauge. Maybe an hour of high-speed driving left. I turn right into an alley and sweep through to the other side, making a left turn onto a one-way street, going the wrong way. Two cars sound their horns and careen out of my trajectory. I check my mirror, expecting to have made some headway, but I can’t shake them.

Driving south of Market Street, I accelerate one last time, more as an act of showmanship than an attempt to escape. I follow it up by slamming on my brakes. I do it just to rattle them, just to remind them that I am still in control.

The Ford screeches to a halt about ten feet behind the BMW. I turn off the ignition and take a few deep breaths. I casually get out of the car and walk over to the sedan.

I knock on the driver’s-side window. A moment passes and the window rolls down. I put my hand on the hood of the car and lean in just a bit.

“Mom. Dad. This has to stop.”








THE INTERVIEW

CHAPTER 1




Seventy-two Hours Later

A single lightbulb hangs from the ceiling, its dull glow illuminating the spare decor of this windowless room. I could itemize its contents with my eyes closed: one wooden table, splintered and paint-chipped, surrounded by four rickety chairs; a rotary phone; an old television; and a VCR. I know this room well. Hours of my childhood I lost in here, answering for crimes I probably did commit. But I sit here now answering to a man I have never seen before, for a crime that is still unknown, a crime that I am too afraid to even consider.

Inspector Henry Stone sits across from me. He places a tape recorder in the center of the table and switches it on. I can’t get a good read on him: early forties, short-cropped salt-and-pepper hair, crisp white shirt, and a perfectly tasteful tie. He might be handsome, but his cold professionalism feels like a mask. His suit seems too pricey for a civil servant and makes me suspicious. But everyone makes me suspicious.

“Please state your name and address for the record,” says the inspector.

“Isabel Spellman. Seventeen ninety-nine Clay Street, San Francisco, California.”

“Please state your age and date of birth.”

“I’m twenty-eight. Born April 1, 1978.”

“Your parents are Albert and Olivia Spellman, is that correct?”

“Yes.”

“You have two siblings: David Spellman, thirty, and Rae Spellman, fourteen. Is that correct?”

“Yes.”

“Please state your occupation and current employer for the record.”

“I am a licensed private investigator with Spellman Investigations, my parents’ PI firm.”

“When did you first begin working for Spellman Investigations?” Stone asks.

“About sixteen years ago.”

Stone consults his notes and looks up at the ceiling, perplexed. “You would have been twelve?”

“That is correct,” I respond.

“Ms. Spellman,” Stone says, “let’s start at the beginning.”



I cannot pinpoint the precise moment when it all began, but I can say for sure that the beginning didn’t happen three days ago, one week, one month, or even one year ago. To truly understand what happened to my family, I have to start at the very beginning, and that happened a long time ago.








Part One

Antebellum









A LONG TIME AGO



My father, Albert Spellman, joined the San Francisco Police Department when he was twenty and one-half years old, just as his father, grandfather, and brother had done before him. Five years later he made inspector and was transferred to vice. Two years after that, while telling his informant a joke, Albert tripped and fell down two flights of stairs. The fall left him with an unreliable back that would cause him to collapse in pain without warning.

Forced into early retirement, Albert immediately went to work for Jimmy O’Malley, a one time robbery inspector turned private investigator. The year was 1970. Although Jimmy was nearing eighty, O’Malley Investigations was still pulling in a respectable caseload. With my father on board, the business took off. Albert has an unusual gift with people, a goofy, affable charm that elicits immediate trust. His sense of humor is purely cheap vaudeville, yet everyone falls for it. Some of his routines—like sneezing Eastern European names—he never grows tired of. Only his children have suggested he work up some new material.

At six foot three and two hundred twenty pounds, you might imagine his physique would intimidate, but his easy gait always masked the strength beneath. His face seemed to defy description with features so mismatched, they looked like a collage of other faces. My mother used to say, If you stared at him long enough, he was handsome. And my father would continue, But your mother was the only one who had the patience.

In 1974, during a routine insurance-company surveillance that concluded in Dolores Park, Albert spotted a petite brunette lurking behind a set of bushes flanking the Muni tracks. Intrigued by her unusual behavior, he dropped his paid surveillance detail to follow this mysterious woman. Within a short time, Albert determined that the suspiciously behaving brunette was doing some surveillance of her own. He came to this conclusion when she pulled a camera and an enormous telephoto lens out of her purse and began taking snapshots of a young couple embroiled on a park bench. Her camerawork was unsteady and amateurish and Albert decided to offer some professional assistance. He approached, either too quickly or too closely (the details are now a blur to both parties), and got kneed in the groin. My father would later say he fell in love as the pain subsided.

Before the brunette could plant another debilitating blow, Albert rattled off his credentials to subdue the surprisingly strong woman. The brunette, in turn, apologized, introduced herself as Olivia Montgomery, and reminded my father that sneaking up on women is both impolite and potentially dangerous. Then she offered an explanation for her amateurish spying and solicited some advice. It was revealed that the man still entangled on the park bench was Ms. Montgomery’s future brother-in-law. The woman, however, was not her sister.

Albert played hooky the rest of the afternoon to aid and instruct Ms. Montgomery in her surveillance of one Donald Finker. Their efforts began at Dolores Park and ended at an Irish pub in the Tenderloin. Finker was none the wiser. Olivia would later call the day a great success, although her sister Martie would not. Several bus tokens, cab fares, and two rolls of film later, Olivia and Albert managed to catch Donald in the arms of three separate women (some he’d paid) and slipping money in the pockets of two separate bookies. Albert was impressed with Olivia’s acumen and discovered that having a petite, quick-on-her-feet, twenty-one-year-old brunette working a surveillance job was an invaluable asset. He didn’t know whether to ask her out or offer her a job. Too torn to make that decision, Albert did both.

Three months later, Olivia Montgomery became Olivia Spellman in a small Las Vegas ceremony. Martie caught the bouquet, to her great astonishment, but thirty-three years later would still be unmarried. A year after that, Albert bought the business from Jimmy and changed its name to Spellman Investigations.







THE FIRSTBORN



David Spellman was born perfect. Eight pounds even, with a full head of hair and unblemished skin, he cried for a brief moment right after his birth (to let the doctor know he was breathing), then stopped abruptly, probably out of politeness. Within two months, he was sleeping seven hours straight and occasionally eight or nine.

While Albert and Olivia automatically considered their first child the picture of perfection, it wasn’t until two years later, when I came along to provide a point of comparison, that they realized how flawless David really was.

David grew more attractive the older he got. While he bore no real resemblance to anyone in my family, his features were a collection of my mother’s and father’s best attributes, with a few of Gregory Peck’s thrown in. He never suffered through an awkward stage, just an occasional black eye brought on by a jealous classmate (which somehow looked fetching on him). David excelled in school with little or no effort, possessing a brain for academics that has not been duplicated anywhere in our entire family tree. A natural athlete, he declined being captain of just about every sports team in high school to avoid the covetous backlashes that would often ensue. There was nothing sinister in his ungodly perfection. In fact, he possessed modesty beyond his years. But I was determined to kick out the legs of every chair he ever sat on.

The crimes I committed against my brother were manifold. Most went unpunished, as David was never a snitch, but there were others that could not escape the careful scrutiny of my ever-vigilant parents. As soon as I developed language skills, I began to document my crimes, not unlike a shop clerk logs inventory. The record of my crimes took the form of lists, followed by relevant details. Sometimes there were thumbnail sketches of a misdeed, like, “12-8-92. Erased hard drive on David’s computer.” Other times the lists were followed by a detailed rendering of the event, usually in the case of crimes for which I was caught. The details were necessary so that I could learn from my mistakes.







THE INTERROGATION ROOM



That is what we came to call it, but it was, in fact, our unfinished basement. Contents: one lightbulb, one table, four chairs, a rotary phone, and an old TV. Since it had the lighting and spare furnishings of a noir film, my parents could not resist staging all of our sentencing hearings in this primitive space.

I held a long-term reservation on the room, being my family’s primary agitator. Below is a sampling of my basement interrogations. The list is by no means exhaustive:



Isabel, Age 8

I sit in one of the unbalanced chairs, leaning to one side. Albert paces back and forth. Once he is certain that I am beginning to squirm, he speaks.

“Isabel, did you sneak into your brother’s room last night and cut his hair?”

“No,” I say.

Long pause.

“Are you sure? Maybe you need some time to refresh your memory.”

Albert takes a seat across the table and looks me straight in the eye. I quickly look down but try to maintain my ground.

“I don’t know anything about a haircut,” I say.

Albert places a pair of safety scissors on the table.

“Do these look familiar?”

“Those could be anyone’s.”

“But we found them in your bedroom.”

“I was framed.”

In fact, I was grounded for one week.



Isabel, Age 12

This time my mother does the pacing, carrying a laundry basket under her left arm. She puts the basket on the table and pulls out a wrinkled oxford shirt in a shade of pink so pale it is clearly not its intended color.

“Tell me, Isabel. What color is this shirt?”

“It’s hard to say in this light.”

“Hazard a guess.”

“Off-white.”

“I think it’s pink. Are you willing to give me that?”

“Sure. It’s pink.”

“Your brother now has five pink shirts and not one white shirt to wear to school.” (The school uniform code strictly says white shirts only.)

“That’s unfortunate.”

“I think you had a hand in this, Isabel.”

“It was an accident.”

“Is that so?”

“A red sock. I don’t know how I missed it.”

“Produce the sock in ten minutes. Otherwise, you’re paying for five new shirts.”

I couldn’t produce the sock, because it didn’t exist. However, I did manage to get the red food coloring out of my bedroom and into the neighbor’s trash can without detection in that time frame.

I paid for those shirts.



Isabel, Age 14

By now my father has been permanently elected interrogator. Frankly, I think he was just missing his cop days; sparring with me kept him fresh.

Fifteen minutes pass in silence as he tries to make me sweat. But I’m getting better at this game and manage to look up and hold his gaze.

“Isabel, did you doctor the grades on your brother’s report card?”

“No. Why would I do that?”

“I don’t know. But I know you did it.”

He places the report card on the table and slides it in front of me. (These were the old handwritten cards. All you had to do was pinch a blank one and solicit the services of a decent forger.)

“It’s got your fingerprints all over it.”

“You’re bluffing.” (I wore gloves.)

“And we had the handwriting analyzed.”

“What do you take me for?”

Albert sighs deeply and sits down across from me. “Look, Izzy, we all know you did it. If you tell me why, we won’t punish you.”

A plea bargain. This is new. I decide to go for it, since I don’t want to be trapped at home all week. I take a moment to respond, just so the confession doesn’t come too easily.

“Everyone should know what it’s like to get a C.”

It took some time, but eventually I grew tired of trying to dethrone King David. There had to be a better way to pave my own path. No one could deny that I was a difficult child, but my true life of crime did not begin until I met Petra Clark in the eighth grade. We met in detention and bonded over our mutual (and fanatical) love for the 1960s sitcom Get Smart. I couldn’t begin to estimate the number of hours we spent, stoned, watching repeats on cable, laughing so hard it hurt. It was only natural that we would soon become inseparable. It was a friendship based on common interests—Don Adams, beer, marijuana, and spray paint.

In the summer of 1993, when we were both fifteen, Petra and I were suspected of committing a string of unsolved vandalisms in the Nob Hill district of San Francisco. Despite the numerous Neighborhood Watch meetings in our honor, none of the cases could be proven. At the time we would reflect upon our transgressions the way an artist might admire his own paintings. Petra and I challenged each other to push the boundaries of our misdemeanors. Our crimes were childish, yes, but they possessed a kind of creative energy that was absent from your everyday vandalism. The following is the first co-list Petra and I created; however, many more would follow.

UNPUNISHED CRIMES: SUMMER 1993





	1. 6-25-93
	Relandscaped Mr. Gregory’s backyard.1




	2. 7-07-93
	Drive-by.



	3. 7-13-93
	Stole 5 basketballs, 3 field hockey sticks, 4 baseballs, and 2 baseball gloves from phys ed storage closet at Mission High School.



	4. 7-16-93
	Dyed Mrs. Chandler’s toy poodle cobalt blue.



	5. 7-24-93
	Drive-by.



	6. 7-21-93
	Deposited a case of beer outside an AA meeting on Dolores Street.2




	7. 7-30-93
	Drive-by.



	8. 8-10-93
	Filled out subscription cards for Hustler magazine on behalf of an assortment of married men in the neighborhood.




 

Our staple activity was what we called the “drive-by.” When lack of inspiration limited our nightly activities, garbage night provided a backup plan. It was simple, really: We’d sneak out of our homes after midnight. Petra would pick me up in her mom’s 1978 Dodge Dart (which Petra had stolen), and we’d sideswipe trash cans left out for the garbage truck. It wasn’t so much the rush of destruction that appealed to me and Petra, but more the narrow escapes. By the end of summer, however, my luck had run out.

I found myself in the interrogation room once again. This time it was different, since it was a real interrogation room in a real police department. My father wanted me to give up my source and I refused.

8-16-93

The crime: Six hours earlier, I had snuck out of the house past midnight, hitched a ride to a party in the Mission, and picked up a guy who wanted to score some blow. Although cocaine wasn’t my thing, the guy was sporting a leather jacket and a Kerouac novel and I have a weakness for tough guys who read. So I told him I knew a dealer—for reasons I’ll get to later—and I made a call, asking if I could “cash in on that favor.” Driving to my source’s house, I made the leather jacket guy from the party as an undercover cop and demanded he drive me home. Instead, he drove me to the police station. When it was established that I was the daughter of Albert Spellman, a decorated ex-cop, Dad was called in.

Albert entered the Box still groggy with sleep.

“Give me a name, Izzy,” he said, “and then we can go home and punish you for real.”

“Any name?” I asked coyly.

“Isabel, you told an undercover police officer that you could score him some blow. You then made a phone call to a man you claimed was a dealer and asked if you could cash in on a favor. That doesn’t look good.”

“No, it doesn’t. But the only real crime you’ve got me on is breaking curfew.”

Dad offered up his most threatening gaze and said one last time, “Give me his name.”

The name the cops wanted was Leonard Williams, Len to his friends, high school senior. The truth was, I barely knew the guy and had never bought drugs from him. What I did know I pieced together through years of eavesdropping, which is how I learn most things. I knew Len’s mother was on disability and addicted to painkillers. I knew his father had been killed in a liquor store shooting when Len was six years old. I knew that he had two younger brothers and the welfare checks did not feed them all. I knew Len dealt drugs like some kids get after-school jobs—to put food on the table. I knew Len was gay, and I never told anyone about it.



It was the night of Unpunished Crime #3. Petra and I broke onto school property to steal from the phys ed storage closet (I was convinced that a secondhand sporting-goods business would solve our cash-flow problem). I picked the lock to the storage closet and Petra and I moved the inventory into her car. But then I got greedy and remembered that Coach Walters usually kept a bottle of Wild Turkey in his desk drawer. While Petra waited in the car, I returned to the school grounds and caught Len and a football player making out in Coach Walters’s office. Because I never said anything, Len thought he owed me. What he didn’t know was that I was good at keeping secrets, having so many of my own. One more made no difference to me.

“I am not a snitch” was all I ever said.

My father took me home that night without uttering a single word. Nothing happened to Len. They had only a nickname to go on. As for me, I got off easy, at least compared to my father, who endured endless jeering from his former colleagues; they found it infinitely amusing that Al couldn’t crack his own daughter as an informant. Yet I know that for a man who spent years working the streets, he understood the codes that criminals live by and to a certain extent respected my silence.



If you can imagine me without my litany of crimes or my brother as a point of comparison, you might be surprised to find that I stand up all right on my own. I can enter a room and have its contents memorized within a few minutes; I can spot a pickpocket with the accuracy of a sharpshooter; I can bluff my way past any currently employed night watchman. When inspired, I have a doggedness you’ve never seen. And while I’m no great beauty, I get asked out plenty by men who don’t know any better.

But for many years, my attributes (for what they’re worth) were obscured by my defiant ways. Since David had cornered the market on perfection, I had to settle for mining the depths of my own imperfection. At times it seemed the only two sentences spoken in our household were Well done, David and What were you thinking, Isabel? My teenage years were defined by meetings at the principal’s office, rides in squad cars, ditching, vandalism, smoking in the bathroom, drinking at the beach, breaking and entering, academic probation, groundings, lectures, broken curfews, hangovers, blackouts, illegal drugs, combat boots, and unwashed hair.

Yet I could never do as much damage as I intended, because David was always undoing it. If I missed a curfew, he covered for me. If I lied, he corroborated. If I stole, he returned. If I smoked, he hid the butts. If I passed out on the front lawn, he moved my lifeless body into my bedroom. If I refused to write a paper, he wrote it for me, even dumbing down the language to make it believable. When he discovered that I wasn’t turning in his work on my behalf, he took to delivering the papers directly to the teachers’ mailboxes.

What was so infuriating about David was that he knew. He knew that—to a certain extent—my failure was a reaction to his perfection. He understood that I was his fault and he genuinely felt contrite. My parents would occasionally ask me why I was the way I was. And I told them: They needed balance. Added together and divided evenly, David and I would be two exceedingly normal children. Rae would eventually throw everything off balance, but I’ll get to that later.







1799 CLAY STREET



The Spellman residence is located at 1799 Clay Street on the outskirts of the Nob Hill district of San Francisco. If you walk half a mile to the south, you’ll reach the Tenderloin—San Francisco’s heterosexual red-light district. If you head too far north, you’ll land in some variety of tourist trap, whether it’s Lombard Street or Fisherman’s Wharf or, if you’re really unfortunate, the Marina.

Spellman Investigations is conveniently located at the same address. (My father loves to joke about his commute down the stairs.) The building itself is an impressive four-level Victorian, painted blue with white trim, that my parents could never have afforded had it not been passed down from three generations of Spellmans. The property itself is valued at close to two million, which means my parents threaten to sell at least four times a year. But those are empty threats. My parents would rather have old furniture, chipped paint, and economic uncertainty than European vacations, retirement funds, and a home in the suburbs.

At the entrance to my family’s home/business, you will find four mailboxes that read, from left to right: Spellman, Spellman Investigations (we’ve only had one mail carrier who routinely differentiated between the two), Marcus Godfrey (my father’s long-lived undercover name), and Grayson Enterprises (a dummy business name that our firm uses for lighter cases). There are also two or three PO boxes around the Bay Area that the business sustains when more camouflage is necessary.

Once inside the Spellman home, you come upon a staircase that winds up to the second level, where all three bedrooms are located. To the right of the staircase is a door with a hanging sign that says SPELLMAN INVESTIGATIONS. The door is locked during all nonbusiness hours. Left of the staircase is the entrance to the living room. A threadbare couch with a worn zebra-skin pattern once provided the centerpiece to the room. Now it is an unassuming brown leather sofa. Mahogany furniture orbits the couch—each piece would qualify as an antique, but neglect has diminished their value. The only change the room has seen in the last thirty years (other than the couch) is the replacement of the wood-paneled Zenith TV (circa 1980) with a twenty-seven-inch flat-screen that my uncle bought after a very rare, but successful, day at the racetrack.

Behind the living room is the kitchen, which extends into a modest dining room with still more neglected antiques. While I’m still downstairs, I should unlock the door to Spellman Investigations.

My family’s office sits on the ground level, in a location that would be called the den in any other home. Four secondhand teacher’s desks (the beige metal variety) form a perfect rectangle in the center of the office. Thirty years ago there was only one computer—an IBM—atop my father’s desk. Now there is a PC on each of the four and a communal laptop in the closet. There are half a dozen file cabinets in an assortment of colors (also secondhand) encircling the room. Other than the industrial-size paper shredder and dusty blinds, that’s pretty much it. Files are sometimes stacked two feet high on each desk. Scraps from the shredder are scattered about the floor. The room smells of dust and cheap coffee. The door at the far end of the room leads down to the basement, where all interrogations take place. David used to claim that the basement was the best place in the house to do homework, but I wouldn’t know about that.







THE FAMILY BUSINESS



David and I began working for Spellman Investigations when we were fourteen and twelve, respectively. While I had already made a name for myself as the difficult child, my status as employee redeemed many of my other less-than qualities. I suppose it surprised no one that, generally speaking, I took well to breaking the rules of society and invading other people’s privacy.

We’d always begin in the trash. That was routinely the first job assigned to the Spellman children. Mom or Dad (or the off-duty cop du jour) would pick up refuse from a subject’s residence (once the trash is left out for the sanitation department, it is considered public property and legal to appropriate) and drop it at the house.

I’d put on a pair of thick, plastic dishwashing gloves (and occasionally a nose clip) and sift through the garbage, separating the trash from the treasures. My mother gave precisely the same instructions to all of us: bank statements, bills, letters, notes, you keep; anything that was once edible or contains bodily fluids, you trash. I often considered these instructions incomplete. You’d be surprised how many things fall into the none of the above category. Garbology often made David violently ill, and by the time he was fifteen, he was pulled off this assignment altogether.

The year I turned thirteen, my mother taught me how to do court record searches in the Bay Area. Most of our work at the time involved background checks, and a criminal record search was the first step. Once again, the instructions were simple: Look for derogatories. Translation: Look for something bad. When we couldn’t find a derogatory, the disappointment was palpable. People—the ones we knew by name or Social Security numbers—disappointed us if they were clean.

Background checks were the purest form of grunt work. They often involved traveling throughout the Bay Area to various courthouses, cross-checking names in record books. Before the municipal courts were dissolved in California, this meant visiting the records offices of at least four separate courthouses per county: superior criminal, superior civil, municipal criminal, and municipal civil (and occasionally small claims court).

Later on, our research time was abbreviated when the superior and municipal courts merged and most of the records could be found on microfiche. In the last five years, virtually all courthouse information has been transferred to computerized databases, and unless we were looking for a case more than ten years old, all the research could be done from inside the Spellman offices. What was once a twelve-to-fifteen-hour job turned into four hours or less behind a desk.

Aside from background research, the databases can also be used to locate an individual whose whereabouts are unknown. Acquiring a Social Security number is the key to this task. It is the holy grail of the PI world. But Social Security numbers are not public record. If you are not provided a Social Security number from the client, then a full name and a DOB (date of birth) or at the very minimum a full name (hopefully unusual) and city of residence are required. The next step is plugging a name and DOB into a credit header report. These reports provide some of the information on a complete credit report, such as address history and any bankruptcies and liens against the individual, but not the full report, since credit reports are also not public record. Through a credit header you can often get a partial SSN. Since one database might hide the first four digits of the SSN and another might hide the last four, if you look at enough of them, you can often assemble a full SSN.

Database research requires an attention to detail that my former teachers would not believe I was capable of. However, I liked finding dirt on people. It made all my trespasses seem trivial.

You could say first they tested our stomachs, then our patience, and finally our wits. For the second-generation Spellmans (and maybe even the first), surveillance was what we lived for. It was the part of the job that made you not care that you were working for your parents after school. But it is not without its lows. People aren’t on the move all the time. They sleep, they go to work, they have four-hour meetings in office buildings, leaving you waiting in the foyer, your stomach growling and your feet aching. I loved being on the move; David loved the downtime. He used it to catch up on his homework. All I did was smoke.

Age 14: My first surveillance job was on the Feldman case. John Feldman hired my family to keep an eye on his business partner and brother, Sam. John had a feeling that his brother was involved in some shady business dealings and wanted us to tail Sam for a couple of weeks to see if his instincts were correct. While John’s instincts were, in fact, correct, his assessment was not. Sam, from my observation, showed little interest in business altogether. He did, however, show great interest in John’s wife.

David and I were both surveillance neophytes when we began the Feldman detail. I was an expert by the end. My father would drive the van, my mother the Honda. Both connected with us via radio. When Sam was on foot, David or I took point. We’d jump out of the car, maintain a reasonable distance on foot, and announce our coordinates into the radio so that at least one vehicle would always be ready to pick us up should Sam decide to take a cab, bus, or cable car. Mostly he took a room at the St. Regis.

What we learned on the Feldman job, aside from the fact that Sam was screwing John’s wife, was that my years of sneaking around paid off. Simply put, my life to date had ingrained in me a certain natural stealth, had taught me how to test limits, and had disciplined me to know precisely how much I could get away with. I knew how to read people. I knew when I could follow a subject onto public transportation or when I needed to call a cab. I knew how long I could sustain the tail and I knew when it was time to quit. But half of it was that I didn’t look like the sort of person who followed people for a living.

At the age of fourteen, I was already about five foot six, just two inches shorter than my current height. I looked a few years older than I was, but still like a student—in wrinkled T-shirts and worn-out denim. There was nothing to notice or not notice about my appearance—long brown hair, brown eyes, no freckles or identifying marks. If I had taken entirely after my mother, I might even be beautiful, but my father’s genes have blunted my features and I hear the word handsome far more than pretty. Still, at my present age of twenty-eight, with the help of a best friend (who is a hairstylist) and a slightly improved fashion sense, I look all right. Let’s leave it at that.

Age 15: Uncle Ray asked me what I wanted for my birthday. I told him a bottle of vodka, and when he said no, I suggested he teach me how to pick locks. This is not a common activity in the arsenal of PI skills, but he taught me anyway since he knew how. (When my mother discovered this fact, she gave him the silent treatment for two weeks.) I would never use this skill on the job, but I’ve found many recreational uses for it since.

Age 16: A pretext call is getting information under false pretenses. This was where my mother was genius. She has acquired SSNs, DOBs, entire credit card bills, bank statements, and employment histories all from a single phone call that might go something like this:

“Good morning. May I speak with Mr. Franklin? Oh, hello, Mr. Franklin. My name is Sarah Baker and I work for ACS, Incorporated. What we do is locate individuals who may have lost track of some of their assets. We have discovered over a thousand shares of a blue-chip stock in the name of one Gary Franklin. I need to verify that you are the same Gary Franklin. If you could give me your date of birth and Social Security number, then I can begin the process of transferring the stock certificates back to you…”

While I consider myself talented in the pretext department, my mother is and will always be queen.

Age 17: I drove on my first surveillance. For a year after I got my license, my dad would practice with me on the road. The concept is simple—aggressive but safe driving. Never drop more than two cars back (if you’re working alone) and know your subject, anticipate where he/she might be going, so that you do not rely entirely upon sustaining a visual. This was my father’s area of expertise. Having worked vice for so many years, he had a feel for the road and an almost psychic ability to predict a subject’s next move.

As my dad taught me most of the on-the-road tactics, Uncle Ray taught me the off-the-road shortcuts. For instance, when you’re driving at night, it’s easier to maintain a visual on a car with only one working taillight. I still remember the day Uncle Ray passed me a hammer and told me to smash out the taillight of Dr. Lieberman’s Mercedes-Benz. That was a perfect day.

Age 18: the magic year in my employment with Spellman Investigations. Because most of our work relates to legal matters, it is important to have the investigator be of legal age. At eighteen, I could serve court papers, perform interviews, and begin accruing the six thousand hours of fieldwork required for my PI license. The only thing standing between me and my license was a criminal record. A thorough background check is done on all potential PI candidates. Everything that happened before I turned eighteen would be sealed in my juvenile record, but as my father reminded me, I needed to stay out of serious trouble after that.

Age 21: On my birthday, I took the two-hour multiple-choice exam and three months later got my license.

David, on the other hand, ended his career with Spellman Investigations when he was sixteen, citing its interference with his schoolwork. He would never work for my family again, although one day we would work for him. The truth was, the job didn’t interest David. He thought people had a right to privacy. The rest of us did not.







DO NOT DISTURB



It was the nature of the business: snooping, legally and sometimes illegally. Like an executioner, you harden yourself to the truth of your job.

When you know what you and your parents are capable of doing to pry into another person’s life, erecting highly structured fortresses to protect your own privacy becomes second nature. You grow accustomed to your mother asking your brother if you have a boyfriend these days and then following you, when you venture out, to get a look at him. You think nothing, when you’re sixteen, of taking three buses in opposing directions and killing an hour and a half to lose her. You install deadbolts on your bedroom door and instruct your brother to do the same. You change those locks twice a year. You interrogate strangers and spy on your friends. You’ve heard so many lies that you never quite believe the truth. You practice your poker face in the mirror so often that your face freezes in that expression.



My parents always had a more than passing interest in the company I kept. My father insisted that the boys in my life were directly responsible for my juvenile-delinquent tendencies. My mother, more accurately, assumed that I was the bad influence. As my parents theorized about my various relationships and their effect on my alcohol consumption and truancy status, Petra theorized about my habit of sabotaging relationships. She said I either chose men who were entirely inappropriate for me, or I tested their patience to the point where they had to break up with me. I told her she was wrong. She suggested I make a list and see for myself.

Like my lists of basement interrogations and unproven crimes, the list of ex-boyfriends1 is like a cheat sheet of my past. In the interest of brevity, I kept the information to a minimum: number, name, age, occupation, hobby, duration of relationship, and last words—i.e., reason given for termination of relationship.

LIST OF EX-BOYFRIENDS
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As for Ex-boyfriends #6 and #9, I’ll get to them later. Some people you simply cannot reduce to the data that will fit on a three-by-five index card. No matter how hard you try.



Sometimes I create a list at the moment of the event. Other times, the list is formed long past its point of origin, when its significance ultimately becomes clear to me. Even if I were to do away with all the other lists, this one must remain, because this is the list that documents the end of my reign of terror in the Spellman household.

THE THREE PHASES OF MY QUASI-REDEMPTION


	Lost Weekend #3

	The Foyer-Sleeping Incident

	The Missing-Shoe Episode



As you might have gathered, Lost Weekend #3 is part of its own separate list. Eventually, when the scraps of paper that contained my lists were transferred to a password-protected computer file, I created a spreadsheet so one (me) could easily cross-reference data that appeared on more than one list. As for the Lost Weekends, there were twenty-seven total. At least that’s the number I came up with. It wouldn’t surprise me if there were more that I didn’t know about.







OLD UNCLE RAY



I cannot tell you about new Uncle Ray without a fair profile of Uncle Ray before there ever was a Lost Weekend. One Ray means nothing without the other.

Uncle Ray: my father’s brother—three years his senior. Also a cop. Or was a cop. He joined the force when he was twenty-one, made homicide inspector by twenty-eight. His moral compass was highly evolved, as were his dietary standards.

He ran five miles a day and drank green tea before anyone ever told you to drink green tea. He ate leafy greens and cruciferous vegetables and read Prevention magazine the way Russian lit professors read Dostoyevsky. He drank exactly one whiskey and soda at weddings and wakes. No more.

Uncle Ray met Sophie Lee when he was forty-seven, and while he had always been a serial monogamist, this was the first time he really fell in love. Sophie taught elementary school and happened to be the only witness to a vehicular homicide Ray was investigating.

Six months later they were married in a banquet hall overlooking San Francisco Bay. I have little recollection of the night. What I can say for sure is that, at twelve years old, I drank more at Uncle Ray’s wedding than he did.

From all I could tell, Uncle Ray and Sophie were happy. Then shortly after their first anniversary, Uncle Ray, a man who never smoked a cigarette in his life, got cancer. Lung cancer.

Within a month, Uncle Ray went into the hospital, had part of his lung removed, and endured a grueling stint of chemotherapy. He lost all of his hair and twenty pounds. The cancer metastasized. Uncle Ray began another spate of chemo.

The whispers in our house during that time were deafening. There was a constant hum of words, short phrases, and occasionally muffled arguments all unintended for our ears. But David and I are highly trained eavesdroppers. “Surveillance starts at home” we used to say. Over the years we discovered “soft spots” in the house, specific locations where the household acoustics allow you to listen in on conversations in an entirely separate location. David’s and my intelligence gathering resulted in yet another list.


	Uncle Ray’s chemo wasn’t working

	Sophie stopped visiting him in the hospital

	Mom was pregnant



The pregnancy was an accident, David and I concluded upon comparing notes. After thirteen years of raising me, I was sure my parents were ready to call it a day. But new life is the only thing that softens death. And when it became clear that Uncle Ray was going to die, it was then, I suspect, that my mother decided to have the baby. It was a girl and they named her Rae, after the man who would soon be dead. But then Uncle Ray didn’t die.

No one could explain it. The doctors said he was within weeks from the end. It was as obvious on his medical chart as it was on his body. This was a dying man. And then he just got better. When the dark circles around his eyes faded and the flesh seemed to return to his cheeks, we still said good-bye. Three months later, after his appetite returned and he gained back thirty of the forty pounds that he lost during the vicious chemotherapy treatments, we still said good-bye. Six months later, when the doctor told Sophie that her husband was going to live, it was Sophie who said good-bye. She left him with no explanation. That is when the new Uncle Ray was born.

He started drinking, really drinking—more than one whiskey and soda at weddings and wakes. For the first time in my life, Ray could hold his liquor better than me. He started gambling, not friendly poker matches among friends, but high-stakes games with minimum bets of five hundred dollars in secret locations delivered through codes on a pager. The racetrack became his second home. The ponies were his new love. The only time I ever saw Uncle Ray run again was during halftime of a 49ers game when he ran out of snacks. His health food days were over. Mostly he ate cheese and crackers and drank piss beer by the case. He was no longer a one-woman kind of man. Uncle Ray would play the field for the rest of his life.

It could be argued that the new Uncle Ray was more fun than the old Uncle Ray. I, however, was the only person doing the arguing. Uncle Ray lived with us for the first year after That Fucking Bitch left him. Then he found a one-bedroom in the Sunset district just around the corner from the Plough and Stars pub. During football season, you’d find him in our living room watching the games with my dad. Uncle Ray would pile the beer cans next to his chair, forming a perfect pyramid—the base sometimes as wide as eight across. Once, my father commented to Uncle Ray on his new diet and nonexercise regime. Uncle Ray said, “Clean living gave me cancer. I’m not going through that again.”







THE THREE PHASES OF MY QUASI-REDEMPTION (AND LOST WEEKEND #3)



I was fifteen the first time Uncle Ray disappeared. He missed Friday night dinner, then Sunday morning football. His phone went unanswered for five days. My father dropped by Ray’s apartment and found a week’s worth of letters and flyers jutting out of the mailbox. He picked the locks to Ray’s apartment and discovered a sink full of moldy dishes, a refrigerator devoid of beer, and three messages on the answering machine. My dad used his more-than-ample tracking skills and located my uncle three days later at an illegal poker game in San Mateo.

Six months after that Uncle Ray disappeared again.

“I think Ray is having another Lost Weekend,” my mother said in muffled tones to my dad. This was the second time I had heard my mother refer to Ray’s disappearing acts by the title of the 1945 film, a cautionary tale starring Ray Milland. We’d watched the film in English class once. I can’t remember why. But I do recall thinking that 1945 debauchery didn’t hold a candle to modern-day depravity. That said, my mother’s reference stuck, and while I had no idea what truly went on during Uncle Ray’s first two Lost Weekends, by the third I was an expert. That brings me back to the list I mentioned earlier:

Phase #1: Lost Weekend #3

It was a weekend that lasted ten days. Not until the fourth day of Ray’s absence did we begin our search. The phone numbers, which my father amassed during the first two mysterious disappearances, were now typed, alphabetized, and filed neatly away in his desk drawer. Mom, Dad, David, and I quartered the list and began making inquiries. Several generations of contact numbers later, we learned that Uncle Ray was staying in room 385 of the Excalibur Resort and Casino in Las Vegas. Uncle Ray wasn’t like those dogs you hear about that get lost on a camping trip with their family and somehow manage to limp, starving and dehydrated, the three hundred or so miles back to their owners. Uncle Ray would be dehydrated all right, but he never seemed to find his way home.

My father decided to invite me along “for the ride.” David wanted to go, but he was in the middle of filling out college applications at the time. Any notions of a fun father-daughter vacation were soon laid to rest. The invitation to accompany my dad was my parents’ version of an after-school special on the evils of drug and alcohol abuse.

Dad banged on my door at 5:00 A.M. We were scheduled to be on the road at 6:00. I slept in until 5:45, when my father grew suspicious of my lack of noise and made some more of his own. This time, a deafening series of thumps followed by a guttural Get your lazy ass out of bed. I dressed and packed in fifteen minutes and made it to the car as my dad was pulling away. I jumped into the moving vehicle like an action star in a buddy film. The image was lost after I buckled up and my dad told me I narrowly missed the worst grounding of my life.

I slept the first four hours of the drive and then flicked through the dismal radio station options for the next two, until my dad told me that he was going to rip my arm off and beat me over my head with it if I didn’t stop. We discussed the open cases on the Spellman calendar for the final three hours. What we didn’t talk about was Uncle Ray, not for even a minute. We stopped for a quick lunch and arrived in Vegas shortly before 4:00 P.M.



Ignoring the DO NOT DISTURB sign, my dad banged on the door to room 385 of the Excalibur, I think even louder than he banged on my door that morning. There was no answer and my father managed to convince the hotel manager to open the room for us. A commingling of scents greeted us at the door—stale cigar smoke, flat day-old beer, and the sour, distinctive odor of vomit. Fortunately, the manager excused himself and allowed my father and me to take in this spectacle privately. Upon viewing the room, with its tacky winks to medieval times, Uncle Ray’s debauchery seemed a fitting homage to King Arthur’s court.

My father scanned the room, searching for evidence of Ray’s present whereabouts. He gathered a few scraps of paper from the nightstand, studied the refuse, checked the closets, and then headed for the door. In the foyer, my father turned and looked back at me.

“I’m going to find Ray,” he said. “You clean this place up while I’m gone.”

“What do you mean, clean?” I asked, needing clarification.

My father replied with the dry, even tone of a computerized voice, “To clean. Verb. To rid of dirt. To remove half-empty beer cans from window and dispose of appropriately. To empty overflowing ashtrays. To mop up vomit on bathroom floor. To clean.”

That wasn’t the definition I was hoping for. “Dad, they have this thing in hotels now. It’s called housekeeping,” I said in my own instructional tone. But my father didn’t like my response. He closed the door behind him and came back into the room.

“Do you have any idea how hard those people work? Can you try to imagine the kind of filth that they see, smell, and touch on a daily basis? Do you have any idea?”

I’m pretty good at not answering rhetorical questions, so I let him continue.

“Uncle Ray is our mess,” he said. “We clean up after him, whether we like it or not.” With that last sentence, my father stared at me pointedly and then left the room. I knew he was reminding me that my messes, too, had to be cleaned up. I was sixteen at the time, and although his lesson was not without some impact, I didn’t change. Not then.

Phase #2: The Foyer-Sleeping Incident

At nineteen, I wasn’t much different. Instead of going to college, I went to work for my parents. I moved into an attic apartment in the Spellman home that was refinished as part of my employment contract. While I was still an asset to Spellman Investigations, I continued to be a liability in the Spellman household. My list of misdeeds had lengthened in three years and many of my habits, like staying out long past midnight and returning home too tanked to find my keys, were now out of my parents’ control.

I don’t remember much about the night of the Foyer-Sleeping Incident other than the fact that I had been at a party and had to be at work at 10:00 the following morning. I walked up the front steps, searched my pockets for the house keys, and came up empty. In the past, when I’d locked myself out—as I mentioned, a common occurrence back then—I’d climb up the fire escape to my bedroom or shimmy up a drainpipe in the back of the house and knock on David’s window, which was closest to the ground. However, the fire escape ladder was not extended and David had left for college two years earlier, so his room window was locked. I weighed my options and decided that sleeping on the porch was more reasonable than dealing with my parents at this hour and in my state.

Rae, now five, discovered me the next morning and shouted out my location to our mother. “Isabel’s sleeping outside.” I slowly came to as my mom stood over me. Her expression was a hybrid of confusion and annoyance.

“You slept out here the whole night?” she asked.

“Not the whole night,” I replied. “I didn’t get back until three.”

I picked up my coat/pillow, casually walked inside the house, and climbed the two flights of stairs to my attic apartment. I slipped into bed and grabbed three more hours of sleep. Added to my porch rest, that was almost seven hours total, which was well above average for me at the time. I woke somewhat refreshed and worked my full shift.

That same night, I arrived home just after 11:00. I had my keys this time and unlocked the front door. It opened just a crack. Apparently the security chain had been attached. I shook the door a couple of times, testing the strength of the chain, wondering if this was some kind of not-so-subtle hint from my parents. Then my mother came to the door, shushed me, shut the door in my face, released the chain, and let me in.

“Be careful,” she said as she blocked the door and left only a small triangle for entry. I slipped inside and followed her gaze to the floor. There was Rae, bundled up in her sleeping bag, clutching her teddy bear, sound asleep.

“Why is she sleeping there?” I asked.

“Why do you think?” my mother snapped back.

“I have no idea,” I said, trying to keep the brusqueness out of my voice.

“Because she wants to be just like you,” my mother said, as if she had a bad taste in her mouth. “I found her on the porch two hours ago and after twenty minutes of coercion I managed to convince her to sleep in the foyer. You’re setting an example here, whether you like it or not. So don’t drive drunk, don’t smoke in the house, cut down on the swearing, and if you’re too wrecked to make it up the stairs to your bedroom at night, don’t bother coming home. Just do that for me. No, do it for Rae.”

My mother, exhausted, turned around and walked up the stairs to her bedroom. I did change that night. I did what I had to do to keep Rae from becoming the mimic of a fuckup like me. But my mother set the bar too low; I was still me and I was still a problem.

Phase #3: The Missing Shoe Episode

Before I opened my eyes, I knew something was amiss. I could feel a breeze overhead and heard the hum of a ceiling fan, which led me to the logical conclusion that I was not in my own bed, since I don’t have a ceiling fan. I kept my eyes closed as I tried to piece together the night before. Then I heard ringing and quiet grumbling—the human kind—the male human kind. The ringing, or subtle chirping, was my cell phone. The moan was from a guy I must have met last night, although if pressed, I couldn’t tell you where. All I knew was that if I didn’t find my phone before it woke him up, awkward small talk would ensue. I knew I wasn’t in the mood for small talk, because when I opened my eyes and sat up in bed, my head began throbbing violently. Fighting back nausea, I staggered through the room, which was a dump and I’ll leave it at that. I found my phone under a pile of clothes and muted the sound. Then I noticed DAVID SPELLMAN on the screen and I clicked open the receiver and walked into the hallway.

“Hello,” I whispered.

“Where are you?” He didn’t whisper.

“In a café,” I answered, thinking that would make him less suspicious of the whispering.

“Interesting, since you were supposed to be in my office fifteen minutes ago,” he fumed. I knew I was forgetting something. Besides the last twelve hours, that is. I had a 9:00 A.M. meeting with Larry Mulberg, head of personnel for Zylor Corp., a drug company that was considering outsourcing their background checks. David occasionally throws business in our direction with clients of his firm. Although I was twenty-three at the time, I still would not have been charged with such a delicate responsibility, but Mulberg had called for the meeting at the last minute, offered no other scheduling option, and Mom and Dad were out of town on business. I suppose they could have asked Uncle Ray to handle it, but generally he refuses to get out of bed before 10:00, and Lost Weekends come on unexpectedly, just like the flu or a skin rash.

While I was more than comfortable committing run-of-the-mill screwups, blowing the chance at bringing in another hundred thousand dollars a year to the family business was not a screwup I or my parents could afford. I tore through random male’s apartment, gathering my clothes and dressing as if it were an Olympic sport. I was already contemplating a professional career when I realized that I couldn’t find my other shoe—the match to the blue sneaker already on my right foot.

I limped down Mission Street like Ratso Rizzo. As I staggered along, I tried to come up with a plan, one that involved me showing up at the meeting with two shoes and freshly showered. But it’s hard to find new footwear before 9:00 A.M. and I was running out of time. I checked my wallet and found a three-dollar BART ticket. I trod carefully down the piss-stained stairs of the Twenty-fourth and Mission station and began rehearsing my apologies to David.

I arrived on the twelfth floor of 311 Sutter Street thirty minutes after my initial conversation with my brother and fifteen minutes late for my meeting with Mulberg. I should mention that David, at this point, was an associate at the law firm of Fincher, Grayson, Stillman & Morris. After high school, he attended Berkeley, graduated magna cum laude with a double major in business and English, and then went on to Stanford Law. I believe it was law school that destroyed David’s sympathetic patience. By the time he was recruited by Fincher, Grayson in his second year, David had learned that not all families were like ours and that being perfect was nothing to feel guilty about. In essence, David discovered that I was not his fault and abruptly ceased his habit of compensating for me.

I entered the Fincher offices through a back entrance to avoid detection. I was hoping David had kept Mulberg in the reception area, so I could have a chance to clean myself up before I was seen. I wove through the mazelike hallway, trying to remember precisely where David’s office was located. He spotted me first and yanked me into a conference room.

“I can’t believe you go to cafés looking like that,” David said.

I realized I probably looked worse than I thought and decided to come clean. “I wasn’t in a café.”

“No kidding. What was his name?”

“Don’t remember. Where’s Mulberg?”

“He’s running late.”

“Late enough for me to go home and take a shower?”

“No,” David replied, looking down at my feet. He then stated the obvious with sullen disappointment. “You’re wearing only one shoe.”

“I need a Coke” was my only response. The nausea was kicking in again.

David was silent.

“Or a Pepsi,” I offered.

David grabbed me by the arm and led me down the hallway, through the main corridor, and into the men’s restroom.

“I can’t go in there,” I protested.

“Why not?”

“Because I’m a girl, David.”

“At the moment, it’s not even clear that you are human,” David smartly replied as he dragged me inside. A suited man was standing at the urinal, overhearing the last bit of our conversation as he finished up.

David turned to the suited man, who was zipping his fly. “Excuse the interruption, Mark. I need to teach my twenty-three-year-old sister how to wash her face.”

Mark smiled uncomfortably and exited the bathroom. David placed his hands on my shoulders and turned me squarely toward the mirror.

“This is not how you show up for a business meeting.”

Finding the courage to look at my reflection, I saw that my eye makeup had migrated halfway down my face and my hair, stringy and tangled, was bunched up on one side. The buttons on my shirt were askew and it looked like I had slept in it. Because I had. Then there was the problem with my wearing only one shoe.

“Clean yourself up. I’ll be right back,” David said.

Rather than request a transfer to the women’s restroom, I stayed put and did as I was told. Once I finished scrubbing the dirt and makeup off my face and gulped a pint of tap water directly from the spout, I retreated to a stall to avoid any further contact with my brother’s colleagues. At least two men entered and urinated while I was waiting for David to return. I began daydreaming that he’d find it in his heart to bring me a Coke on ice.

“Open up,” David said, as he banged on my stall. I could tell by the tone of his voice and the timbre of the bang that he was Coke free. I opened the door and David handed me a newly starched men’s oxford shirt in a 38 regular, along with a stick of extra-strength deodorant.

“Put these on,” he said. “Quickly. Mulberg is waiting in my office.”

When I exited the stall, a pair of women’s sandals was waiting for me on the floor.

“Size seven, right?” David asked.

“No. Size nine.”

“Close enough.”

“Where did you get those?”

“From my secretary.”

“Since you’re so good at persuading women to remove their clothes, maybe you could get the rest of her outfit,” I suggested.

“I could, but your ass wouldn’t fit in it.”

We finished assembling my slapdash ensemble and concluded that while I looked remarkably unfashionable and unattractive, I no longer appeared hungover and irresponsible. David sprayed me with his cologne as we left the men’s restroom and ventured into our meeting.

“Great. Now I smell like you.”

“I wish.”



Larry Mulberg was hardly a fashion plate himself and I suspected he would have no comment about my substandard attire. David’s secretary entered the office in stocking feet and asked if anyone would like a beverage, and I finally got my Coke. The meeting went well: I explained to Mulberg the financial benefits of outsourcing background checks and gave him a thorough overview of my family’s expertise in that area. I’m rather good at talking nonrelatives into things, so Mulberg bought it all, not once noticing the green tinge to my complexion or my bloodshot eyes.

I detached the size-seven sandals and handed them back to David’s secretary, thanking her profusely. Returning to my brother’s office, I changed back into my wrinkled shirt and reluctantly tossed my abandoned sneaker in the trash.

“David, can you loan me cab money?” I asked, gesturing at my bare feet, expecting some sympathy. David, already behind his desk hard at work, stared at me coldly. He reached into his back pocket, took out a twenty, and left it on the edge of the desk. He then returned to writing his brief.

“Well, uh, thanks,” I said, after I took the bill. “I’ll pay you back,” I continued, heading for the door. I almost made it out of the office before David finished me off.

“Make sure I never see you like that again,” he said slowly and deliberately. It was not a piece of advice.

Then he ordered me to leave. And I did. In that moment I realized that the role of the raven-haired golden boy David played to my mousy-brown fuckup was not the plum part I had always imagined. It occurred to me that while I was egging the neighbor’s yard, David never had the chance to try it himself. Destruction and rebellion are a natural part of adolescence. But David, always cleaning up after me, compensating for me, lost that essential rite of passage. Instead, he became a textbook son. And his only flaw was that he didn’t know how to be imperfect.



I believe that miraculous transformations, the kind that usually involve a preacher smacking you over the head, are rare, so rare that when they do occur, they often cause suspicion. While my change was hardly on the scale of a miracle, it was substantial. Yes, you could still find me in a wrinkled shirt, or downing a few too many, or uttering an inappropriate comment, but you wouldn’t find me leaving messes for other people to clean up. That part I stopped cold turkey.

Initially, the wave of distrust precipitated by quasi-responsible Isabel was profound enough to almost cause a relapse. My mother was convinced it was some kind of sinister trick and questioned my motives with the skepticism of a research scientist. For at least two weeks straight, my father said around the clock, “All right, Isabel, what gives?” Uncle Ray, on the other hand, appeared genuinely concerned and suggested that vitamins might help. In fact, for the first few weeks, New Isabel prompted more hostility than Old Isabel. But I knew it was only a matter of time before I would build the trust, and when it finally happened, I could almost feel the breeze from the collective sigh of relief.








THE INTERVIEW

CHAPTER 2




The mythology that surrounds my work is impossible to shake. The lore of the gumshoe has had decades to flourish in our culture, but not all myth is based in fact. The truth about the PI is that we don’t solve cases. We explore them. We tie up loose threads, perhaps uncover a few surprises. We provide proof of a question for which the answer is already known.

Inspector Stone, on the other hand, does solve mysteries. Not the tidy ones from crime novels, but mysteries nonetheless.

Stone consults his notes in an effort to avoid eye contact. I wonder if it is me or if it’s what he does with everyone, in order to shield himself from their pain.

“When was the last time you saw your sister?” Stone asks.

“It was four days ago.”

“Can you describe her mood for me? The details of your interaction?”

I remember everything, but it doesn’t seem relevant. Stone is asking all the wrong questions.

“Do you have any leads?” I ask.

“We’re looking into everything,” Stone replies, the standard police response.

“Have you talked to the Snow family?”

“We don’t believe they were involved.”

“Isn’t it worth checking into?”

“Please answer my question, Isabel.”

“Why don’t you answer mine? My sister has been missing for three days now and you’ve got nothing.”

“We’re doing everything we can. But you need to cooperate. You need to answer my questions. Do you understand me, Isabel?”

“Yes.”

“We have to talk about Rae,” Stone says in an almost hushed tone.

I suppose it is time. I’ve been postponing it long enough.







RAE SPELLMAN



Born six weeks premature, Rae weighed exactly four pounds when she was brought home from the hospital. Unlike many preemies who grow into normal-size children, Rae would always remain small for her age. I was fourteen at the time of her birth and determined to ignore the fact that a newborn baby was sharing my home. I referred to her as “it” for the first year, pretending that she was a recently acquired object, like a lamp or an alarm clock. Any acknowledgment I made of her presence was along the lines of “Can you move it outside? I’m trying to study,” or “Where’s the mute button on this thing?” No one found my objectifying remarks amusing, let alone me. I was not amused at all. I was terrified that this child would grow up to be another symbol of perfection like David. I soon discovered that Rae was no David, although she was extraordinary nonetheless.

Rae, Age 4

I told her she was an accident. It was over dinner, after she bombarded me for twenty minutes with questions about my day. I was tired, probably hungover, and in no mood to be interrogated by a four-year-old.

“Rae, did you know you were an accident?”

And Rae started laughing. “I was?” It was her habit back then to laugh whenever she didn’t understand something.

My mother gave me her usual cold stare and began damage control, explaining that some children were planned and some were not, et cetera. Rae seemed far more baffled by the concept of planning a child than not planning one and grew bored with my mother’s unnecessary discourse.

Rae, Age 6

Rae begged for three days straight to be allowed on a surveillance job. The begging was relentless and inconsolable. It was the on-her-knees, clasped-handed, insistent-whine-of-pleeeeease kind of begging that continued for most of her waking hours. Eventually my parents gave in.

She was six. Six, I repeat. When my parents told me that Rae would be joining us the next day on the Peter Youngstrom surveillance, I suggested that they’d lost their fucking minds. My mother apparently had, shouting, “You try! You try listening to that begging all day long! I’d rather have a toenail slowly removed than go through that again.” My father seconded that with, “Two toenails.”

That night I showed Rae how to use a radio. My father hadn’t updated the equipment for a few years. While the radios were perfectly utilitarian, they were also the size of Rae’s entire arm. I stuck the five-pound electronic device into her Snoopy backpack, along with some fruit roll-ups, packaged cheese and crackers, and a couple of Highlights magazines. The mouthpiece I slipped through the opening of the backpack and clipped to the collar of her coat. I showed her how to reach through the zipper opening and adjust the volume on the radio. Then all she had to do was press down the button on the mouthpiece when she wanted to talk.

We began the detail outside the subject’s home at approximately six o’clock in the morning. Rae awoke at 5:00 A.M., brushed her teeth, washed her face, and dressed. She sat by the door from 5:15 to 5:45 A.M., until the rest of us were ready to leave. My father told me I could take a lesson. As we waited in the surveillance van three doors down from the subject’s residence, Rae and I once again tested and reviewed radio procedures. I reminded her that crossing a street without being given the okay from Mom or Dad would result in a punishment so awful, her young mind could not envision it. Then my mom reiterated the street-crossing rule.

Rae followed every instruction to a T her first day on the job. I usually took point, instructing Rae by example on the general rules of surveillance. You could provide a manual on how to perform an effective surveillance, but those most suited for it follow their instincts. It didn’t surprise anyone that Rae was a natural. I suppose we all expected it, just not to the level at which she adapted to the work.

I closed my distance from Youngstrom when the noon lunch traffic cut down on visibility. I was within ten feet of my subject when he made an unexpected one-eighty and shot back down the sidewalk in my direction. He passed me, brushing against my shoulder and offering a quiet “Excuse me.” I was made and could no longer take point. Rae was about ten yards behind me and my mother and father were a short distance behind her. Rae saw Youngstrom turn back before my parents did. She quickly ducked under some scaffolding hidden from his view. My parents, focused on their six-year-old daughter, didn’t notice the subject until he was practically standing right in front of them. Rae realized that she was the logical person to take point and made the offer into the radio.

“Can I go?” Rae pleaded, watching Youngstrom slowly fade out of view.

I could hear my mother sigh into the radio before she replied. “Yes,” she said hesitantly, and Rae took off.

Rae ran down the street to catch up to the brisk walk of a man over two feet taller than she. When the subject turned left, heading west on Montgomery, my mother lost sight of Rae and I could hear the panic in her voice when she called to her through the radio.

“Rae, where are you?”

“I’m waiting for the light to turn green,” Rae replied.

“Can you see the subject?” I asked, knowing that Rae was safe.

“He’s going into a building,” she said.

“Rae, don’t cross the street. Wait until Daddy and I catch up,” my mother said.

“But he’s getting away.”

“Stay put,” my father said more forcefully.

“What does the building look like?” I asked.

“It’s big with lots of windows.”

“Can you see an address, Rae?” I asked, then rephrased the question. “Numbers, Rae. Do you see any numbers?”

“I’m not close enough.”

“Don’t even think of moving,” my mother reiterated.

“There’s a sign. It’s blue,” said Rae.

“What does it say?” I asked.

“M-O-M-A,” Rae slowly spelled. This was undoubtedly an unnatural situation: My little sister was learning how to perform a surveillance before she could even read.

“Rae, Mommy’s going to pick you up at the corner. Don’t move. Izzy, I’ll meet you at the entrance to MOMA,” said my father. And then it occurred to me that, as a family, this was the first time we had gone to a museum together.

After that day, it was not unusual to find Rae on a surveillance job that didn’t interfere with school or bedtime.

Rae, Age 8

There was a sixteen-year age difference between Rae and David. He was out of the house by the time she was two, and while he lived nearby, he was not a consistent presence like I was. He distinguished himself by buying her the best birthday and Christmas gifts and by being the only member of the family who didn’t boss her around. On one of his rare dinner appearances, Rae asked David the question that had always been on her mind.

“David, why don’t you work for Mommy and Daddy?”

“Because I wanted to do something else with my life.”

“Why?”

“Because I find the law interesting.”

“Is the law fun?”

“I’m not sure I’d use the word ‘fun.’ But it’s compelling.”

“Wouldn’t you rather do something that is fun than not fun?”

David, unable to honestly explain to Rae why he left the family business without offending my parents, resorted to a different tack. “Rae, do you have any idea how much money I make?”

“No,” Rae replied disinterestedly.

“I charge three hundred dollars an hour.”

Rae appeared confused and asked what she believed was the next obvious question. “Who would pay that?”

“Lots of people.”

“Who?” Rae pushed, probably thinking she could tap the same spout.

“That’s confidential,” replied David.

Rae mulled this new information over in her head and continued on suspiciously. “What exactly do you do?”

David contemplated how to answer that question. “I…negotiate.” When the confusion did not lift from Rae’s face, David asked, “Do you know what ‘negotiating’ is?”

Rae responded with a blank stare.

“Negotiating is something you do on a daily basis. Some negotiations are implied, like when you go to the store and give the clerk a dollar for a candy bar; both parties are essentially agreeing on the exchange. You always have the option of saying to the clerk, ‘I’ll give you fifty cents for this one-dollar candy bar,’ and he can say yes or no. That’s negotiating. It’s the process of coming up with a solution that different parties can agree upon. Does that make sense?”

“I guess so.”

“Do you want to negotiate something right now?”

“Okay.”

David considered a negotiable topic. “Let’s see,” he said. “I would like you to get a haircut.”

Since Rae’s last professional haircut had occurred well over a year ago, this was not the first time such a request had been made. And yet each appeal was met with the same unsatisfying response: Rae would administer her own haircut. The resulting lopsided ends and jagged bangs were certainly an eyesore, but to the dandy in my brother, Rae’s hair was truly offensive.

My sister, tired of the repeated haircut harassment, snapped back, “I. Don’t. Need. A. Haircut.”

“I’ll give you a dollar if you get one.”

“I’ll give you a dollar to shut up about it.”

“Five dollars.”

“No.”

“Ten.”

“No.”

“David, I’m not sure this is a good idea,” my mother interjected.

But this was David’s job and he couldn’t stop. “Fifteen dollars.”

This time there was a brief pause before Rae said, “No.”

David, sensing weakness, went in for the kill. “Twenty dollars. You don’t need to cut it all off. Just trim the split ends.”

Rae, showing an aptitude for bartering beyond her years, asked, “Who pays for the haircut? That’s at least fifteen dollars.”

David turned to my mother. “Mom?”

“This is your negotiation,” said my mother.

David turned back to Rae, ready for the final settlement.

“Twenty dollars to you. Fifteen for the haircut. Do we have a deal?” David asked, reaching his hand across the table.

Rae turned to me for a nod of approval before the handshake.

“You’re forgetting about the tip, Rae.”

Rae pulled her hand away and turned to me. “Tip?”

“Yes,” I replied. “You have to tip the hairstylist.”

“Oh. What about the tip?” Rae said to David.

That is when David shot me an annoyed look and shifted from instructive older brother to ruthless corporate lawyer. “Forty dollars total. Take it now or the offer is off the table.”

Rae turned to me again and I knew David’s patience had come to an end. “Take it, Rae. He’s ready to walk.”

Rae held out her hand and they shook on the deal. She turned out her palm and waited for the money. As David paid Rae her forty-dollar bribe, he appeared pleased that he was able to teach his little sister something about his line of work.

The lesson in negotiation stuck with Rae. It stuck hard. She discovered that even simple acts of grooming could be negotiated to her end. In the first half of her tenth year, the only time she would brush her teeth, wash her hair, or take a shower was when money changed hands—more precisely, leaving ours and entering hers. After a brief family meeting my parents and I agreed that we had to cut her off cold turkey and deal with the consequences. It was three weeks before Rae realized that hair washing was not a career.

Rae, Age 12

Sometime in the winter of Rae’s seventh-grade year, she made an enemy. His name was Brandon Wheeler. The genesis of their conflict has always remained somewhat fuzzy. Rae likes her privacy as much as I do. What I do know is that Brandon transferred to Rae’s school in the fall of that same year. Within weeks he was one of most popular boys in her class. He excelled in sports, possessed a firm grasp of all academic subject matter, and had clear skin.

Rae had no problem with him until one day in class, when Jeremy Shoeman was reading aloud from a passage in Huckleberry Finn, Brandon offered a dead-on imitation of Jeremy’s stutter. The class laughed uproariously, which only encouraged Brandon, who added the Shoeman imitation to his regular playlist. Rae never had a problem with Brandon’s previous impersonations, which included a red-headed boy with a lisp, a girl with horn-rimmed glasses and a limp, and a teacher with a wandering eye. Rae wasn’t even friends with Shoeman. But for whatever reason, this rubbed her the wrong way and she was determined to put an end to it.

Rae’s first line of attack was an anonymous typed note that read, Leave Jeremy alone or you will be very, very sorry. The next day when Rae caught sight of Wheeler cornering Shoeman during the lunch hour, apparently thinking the note was from the victim himself, Rae decided to come clean. Wheeler then spread the word around school that Rae and Jeremy Shoeman were a couple. While this infuriated Rae, she kept her cool as she plotted her revenge. I cannot say how my sister acquired this information, but she discovered that Brandon was not twelve, but fourteen, and was repeating seventh grade for the second time. The next time Brandon was flattered for his excellence in academics, Rae made sure her classmates understood that it was a matter of practice and not talent.

Some minor verbal sparring between my sister and the fourteen-year-old seventh grader ensued. But Brandon soon learned that talk was Rae’s weapon of choice and he resorted to the only weapon he knew. While I have never met a girl as mentally tough as Rae, she favors my mother and, at the age of twelve, was still under four foot ten and barely eighty pounds. She can run fast, but there were times she didn’t have the chance. When I saw the unmistakable rash of an Indian burn on her wrist, I asked her if she wanted me to take care of it. Rae said no. When she came home with a black eye from a “dodgeball accident,” I asked again. Rae insisted everything was under control. But I got the feeling that the constant bullying was starting to break her.

I had just picked up Petra from her apartment and we were on our way to a movie when my cell phone rang. Petra answered it.

“Hello. No, it’s Petra, Rae. Izzy is right here. Uh-huh. What happened to your bike? Yeah. We’re not far. Sure. ’Bye.” Petra hung up the phone. “We need to pick up your sister at school.”

“What happened to her bike?”

“She said it doesn’t work.”

We were five minutes away. Rae was sitting on the grass outside, her bike in pieces in front of her—the five-hundred-dollar mountain bike that David had given her for her birthday. I saw several boys standing some distance back, laughing at her expense. Rae told me to pop the trunk and Petra helped her gather the spoils of the wreckage and put them inside. Rae jumped into the backseat, took out one of her schoolbooks, and pretended to read. I could see her eyes watering, but I couldn’t quite believe it. I hadn’t seen Rae cry since she was eight years old and ripped open her arm on a barbed-wire fence. She had bled so much that day that it had been impossible to see the actual wound.

“Rae, please. Let me handle this,” I said, dying for a chance to set things straight. We sat in silence for a few minutes, then she looked over at the flock of boys and caught sight of Brandon waving cheerily at her. And that was it.

“Okay,” she whispered. I was out of the car.

As I swaggered across the grounds to the pack of future frat boys, I tried to gauge what level of bully I was dealing with. I have a knack for looking menacing (at least for a woman), so I made sure to walk slowly and purposefully, deep down hoping that a few of the boys would scatter before I got too close. Three answered my prayers and took off, leaving four behind. At five foot eight, I had at least three inches and fifteen pounds on Brandon, the tallest. And I knew I could take him. But if all four boys decided to stick around, I could not predict the outcome. Petra read my mind and got out of the car. Leaning against the passenger door, she slipped a knife out of her back pocket and started cleaning her fingernails with it. The blade reflected the sun and before I reached Brandon, the rest of the boys decided that it was time to go home. In fact, so did Brandon.

“You. Stop,” I said, pointing at my target. Brandon turned around and forced a sneer in my direction. I moved closer, backing him up against a chain-link fence.

“Wipe that dumb-ass smile off your face,” I seethed.

The smile disappeared, but not the attitude. “What are you gonna do? Beat me up?”

“That’s exactly what I’m going to do. I’m bigger than you, I’m tougher than you, I’m angrier than you, and I fight dirtier than you. Plus, I’ve got backup. You don’t. So if I were to make a wager on how this fight would turn out, I’d bet on me.”

“What’s the big deal? We were just joking around,” Brandon said, his nerves showing through.

“Joking. Interesting. Do you think destruction of property is funny? A black eye is funny? Intimidating a girl half your size is funny? Well, then we are going to have a good time.” I grabbed his shirt by the collar, twisted it around, and shoved him against the fence.

“I’m sorry,” he whispered nervously.

“Are you?”

“Yes.”

“Listen to me very carefully,” I whispered back. “If you lay a finger on my sister or her property ever again—if you even look at her the wrong way—I will fuck you up. Got it?”

Brandon nodded his head.

“Say ‘I understand.’”

“I understand.”

I released my grip and told him to get lost. Brandon ran away, a changed man, I told myself.

When I got back into the car, Petra suggested we go rough up some punks at the preschool around the corner. I looked at Rae through my rearview mirror.

“You okay?”

Rae returned my gaze with dry eyes. Then she asked, “Can we get ice cream?” as if nothing had happened at all.



I wish that were the end of the story, but it isn’t. Brandon ran home crying to his father, who in turn called my parents and followed up by filing assault charges against me. When Rae and I arrived at home with our ice cream cones, my mother and father had already received the first threatening phone call from Mr. Wheeler. Their stern expressions offered a flashback of my misspent youth. I’m sure they were wondering whether the Old Isabel was making a comeback. My father suggested we speak privately in the office and told Rae to go watch TV.

Rae, of course, didn’t watch TV. She lurked by the door (which my father had locked), eavesdropping on our conversation.

“Isabel, what were you thinking?”

“Believe me, you would have done the same thing.”

“You threatened to kill a twelve-year-old boy.”

“First of all, he’s fourteen—”

“He’s a kid—”

“—and I didn’t threaten to kill him; I threatened to fuck him up. There is a difference, you know.”

“What is wrong with you?” my mother yelled.

“That is the most reckless, irresponsible thing you’ve done in years,” screamed my father.

Then Rae smacked her hand against the door and shouted at the top of her lungs, “Leave her alone!”

My mother shouted back, “Rae, go watch TV.”

Rae banged on the locked door again. The thud was so loud it sounded as if she was throwing her whole body against it. “No. Leave Isabel alone! Open the door.”

My father sighed and let Rae in the room. Rae pled my case, which I didn’t, because I’ve got too much attitude. My father was forced to tone down his reprimand to, “In the future, let us handle this sort of thing, Izzy.”

There was almost nothing my mother wouldn’t do to protect her children, even if it was morally ambiguous. It was Mom who handled the potential assault charges, mostly because she can spot an Achilles’ heel with almost X-ray vision. If there is a single unfiltered trait I inherited directly from her, that might be it.

Olivia ran a civil lawsuit check on Mr. Wheeler and discovered a handful of sexual harassment suits in his wake. The pattern piqued my mother’s curiosity and she ran an informal tail on Wheeler over the next week. She caught him with a mistress, snapped some revealing photographs, and then cornered him at the coffee shop on his way to work. My mother suggested he drop the charges. Wheeler said no. My mother showed him the photos and repeated her suggestion, adding that she expected Rae’s bike to be replaced within the week. Wheeler called her a bitch, but the charges were dropped by the afternoon and a new bike was delivered on Friday.



Rae never forgot what I did for her that day. However, I should remind you that Rae’s brand of loyalty takes an entirely different form than the devotion to which one might be accustomed. While she can readily tell you she loves you, it is entirely void of the sappy heart of a greeting card. She is merely stating a fact for your own edification. There were times it seemed Rae lived to please our parents and sometimes even me. But this often lulled us into a false sense of security. Rae’s interest in pleasing ended if it didn’t align with her own agenda. Yet there were times she followed instructions with the blind faithfulness of a well-trained dog.

How to Evade Capture

When Rae was about thirteen, the local media began to cover child abductions with the regularity of weather reports. Statistically, there was a decline in abductions compared to previous years; however, the media’s alarmist tactics engendered a veritable mass paranoia among parents of school-age children. Even my own mom and dad took the bait.

On the six o’clock news, when retired special agent Charles Manning presented a series of preemptive tactics to ward off child predators, my parents took notes and implemented the only one that was not already in use. Avoid routines. Rae was instructed to lose her habits, to mix up her daily routine, to become a moving target.

To see the difference, you’d have had to be acquainted with her previous morning ritual: She staggered out of bed at 8:00, brushed her teeth, grabbed a Pop-Tart on her way out the door, and rode her bike to school, slipping into the classroom at 8:30 on the dot. On the weekends, she slept until 10:00 and then spent an hour making an enormous sugar-laden breakfast.

She was given her assignment Sunday night and by the next morning, Rae had fully implemented an entirely new routine.

MONDAY

Rae wakes up at 6:00 A.M. She goes for a twenty-minute jog and takes a shower. Rae doesn’t like jogging—or showering, for that matter. She drinks a glass of calcium-fortified orange juice and eats a bowl of cornflakes. She walks to school, arriving thirty-five minutes early.

TUESDAY

Rae sets her alarm for 7:30 A.M. and hits the snooze button for the next forty-five minutes. She crawls out of bed at 8:15, meanders downstairs to the kitchen, and begins preparing chocolate-chip pancakes from scratch.

Even though my apartment has a fully functioning kitchen, I usually head downstairs in the morning and drink my parents’ coffee and read their paper. I observe Rae’s activities and determine that she is in no rush. Then I state the obvious.

“Rae, it is eight twenty-five.”

“I know.”

“Doesn’t school start at eight-thirty?”

“I’m going to be late today,” Rae says casually, as she scoops the pancake batter onto the griddle.

WEDNESDAY

I arrive in the kitchen at 8:10 A.M. Rae pours me a cup of coffee and hands me the newspaper.

“Read fast,” she says. “You’re driving me to school.”

“Don’t you think you’re taking this too far, Rae?”

“No, I don’t,” she says, as she takes a bite out of an apple.

The last time I saw Rae eat an apple it was pureed and came in a tiny jar with a picture of a baby on it. In fact, produce in general has never been a part of Rae’s food pyramid, which is primarily built on ice cream, candy, cheese-flavored snack food, and the occasional beef jerky. I’m so pleased to see her ingest something that fell from a tree that I don’t protest when Rae grabs her backpack and tells me she’s going to wait in my car, a 1995 Buick Skylark.

THURSDAY

At 7:45 A.M. my father yells from the bottom of the staircase, “Rae, you still need a ride to school?”

“Yeah!” Rae shouts from a distance.

“Then hurry up,” my father bellows back.

Rae rushes to the top of the staircase, jumps onto the banister, and slides down to the bottom. As she and my father head out the door, my father says, “I asked you not to do that anymore.”

“But you told me to hurry.”

My father tosses Rae a Pop-Tart as they get into the car.

FRIDAY

I enter the kitchen at 8:05 A.M. Rae sits at the table, drinking a glass of milk (another first) and eating a peanut-butter-and-banana sandwich.

“How are you getting to school today?” I ask, praying that she won’t hit me up for another ride.

“David’s driving me.”

“How did you swing that?”

“We negotiated.”

I don’t bother with a follow-up question. I pour myself a cup of coffee and sit down at the table.

“You’ve done that five days in a row, Isabel. Drinking coffee and reading the paper.”

“No one is going to abduct me, Rae.”

“That’s what all abductees say.”

My Evidence

The sprawl of facts that I am piecing together comes from an assortment of methods. Through direct contact or indirect observation, by questions after the fact, tape recordings, interviews, photographs, and eavesdropping whenever an opportunity presents itself.

I don’t pretend that my evidence is flawless. What I am offering is a documentary of my own making. The truth, in the individual facts presented, is reliable. But don’t forget that every image I submit is in my own frame and there are countless frames I cannot provide.

Inspector Stone has said that the past is irrelevant, that my treasure hunt of evidence has no real purpose. But he is wrong. Knowing what happened to my family is not enough. I need to understand how it happened, because maybe then I can convince myself that it could have happened to any family.







ONE YEAR AND EIGHT MONTHS AGO



One year and eight months before my sister disappeared, it was the third week in May and I was three months into Ex-boyfriend #6. Name: Sean Ryan. Occupation: Bartender at the Red Room, a semiswank joint in the Nob Hill area. Hobby: Aspiring novelist. Unfortunately that wasn’t his only hobby. But I’ll get to that later.

My mother and I had been surveilling Mason Warner for the last five days. Warner was a thirty-eight-year-old restaurateur who ran a successful bistro in North Beach. We were hired by one of his investors, who suspected Warner of skimming cash from the business. While a forensic accountant would have been more suited for this job, our client didn’t want to raise any eyebrows. Warner had the effete handsomeness of a modern-day movie star and he wore nice suits; therefore, my mother stood by his innocence. I liked the job because Warner was on the move most of the day, so I wasn’t trapped in a car for eight hours listening to my mother say, “Why can’t you bring home a guy like that?”

I followed Warner into an office building on Sansome Street. I’d worn a baseball cap and sunglasses, so I decided to join him on the elevator ride to see his ultimate destination. Fortunately it was a crowded elevator. I entered first, hit the button for the twelfth floor (of a twelve-story building), and slipped into the back corner. Mason got off on floor seven. I followed him out of the elevator, removed the cap and glasses, and hung back until Warner turned a corner. He entered the office of a psychoanalyst, Katherine Schoenberg, MD. I returned to the lobby and waited in the foyer. I turned my radio back on and told my mom that we had an approximately fifty-minute wait ahead of us. She decided to get coffee. I sat down on a leather bench and read the paper. Five minutes later, Warner was back in the lobby, heading outside.

“Subject is on the move,” I said into the radio.

“Take point. I’m still at the coffee shop,” said my mom.

Normally we’d have given Warner a generous head start and let my mom run the tail from the car. However, without a second visual, I needed to keep my eyes on the subject continuously until my mom could provide backup. I dropped the newspaper and shadowed Warner outside. The second I was out the door, Warner turned back around and proceeded straight in my direction. I fished through my purse and pulled out a pack of cigarettes. I quit smoking years earlier, but a cigarette still is the best prop there is in our line of work. As I patted down my pockets, looking for a book of matches, Warner stepped in and gave me a light.

“Stop following me,” he said, offering up a charming smile before he casually walked away.

I should have known: Men like that never go to shrinks.

That night, Ex-boyfriend #6 and I were having drinks at the Philosopher’s Club, an old man’s bar in West Portal. It’s too clean to be a dive, but it has just the right amount of wood paneling and dated sports posters to remind you that this is not a place catering to the San Francisco elite. I saw the image of a martini glass adjacent to the words “Philosopher’s Club” as Petra and I were riding the L train on the way back from her birthday celebration.1 There was something about the sign that compelled us into the bar and we stayed the whole night, mostly because of our bartender Milo’s bottomless bowls of peanuts and popcorn. That was six years before I arrived that night with Ex #6 and seven years before now. I’ve been a regular all that time. But the only reason Ex #6 and I were at the bar that night was because I won the coin toss.

“Tell me about your day,” Ex #6 said.

“I got burned on a surveillance job.”

“That means you got made?” he said, showing off his learned jargon.

“Uh-huh.”

“You told me you never got made.”

“Rarely. I think I said rarely.”

Milo stepped over to us and refilled my whiskey. Milo was then in his midfifties, now (for those lousy at math) in his early sixties. He’s an Italian-American male, approximately five foot seven, with thinning brown hair streaked with gray. He wears only pleated trousers, short-sleeved oxford shirts, an apron, and usually the latest in athletic footwear, which provides the only modern touch to his ensemble. You might imagine that I have only a passing relationship with Milo, but you’d be wrong. I’ve seen the man at least twice a week for the past seven years. I count him as one of my closest friends.

Ex #6 patted the bar and pointed to his glass. Milo eyed him rudely and refilled his drink at a snail’s pace. Ex #6 put some bills on the bar and snapped a thank-you.

“I got to take a leak,” Ex #6 said as he strode to the back of the bar. Milo watched him disappear, with the phony smile on his face dropping off as he turned to me.

“I have a bad feeling about that guy,” said Milo. I didn’t pay attention since Milo has said the same thing about all my boyfriends since I was twenty-one.

“I’m not having this conversation again, Milo.”

“It’s your life,” he said.

Sometimes I get the feeling it isn’t.



The following morning, I was in the Spellman offices typing up a surveillance report from a job earlier in the week. My mother was waiting for Jake Hand, a twenty-four-year-old hipster, guitar player, and porn shop clerk we occasionally employ when we’re overbooked on surveillance jobs. Dad and Uncle Ray were working a case in Palo Alto. The clock struck 8:00 A.M., and Jake walked in the door sporting his tattoos and an extra spring in his step.

“Mrs. Spell, look at the clock.”

My mother glanced up at our classroom-size timekeeper and said, “You’re on time. I could kiss you.”

Jake thought my mother was serious and offered up his cheek. She gave him a quick peck and then sniffed the air.

“Did you shower, Jake?”

“Only for you, Mrs. Spell.”

Jake is secretly in love with my mother, which manifests itself primarily in grooming-related activities. In fact, most of her male acquaintances are secretly in love with her. Mom’s blue eyes and ivory skin are perfectly offset by long, dark auburn hair (from a bottle these days). Only the crow’s-feet around her eyes give away her age. But Jake can see no flaws through their thirty-year age gap, and Mom enjoys the luxury of having a truly devoted employee. I often wonder what turns their conversations take after eight hours in a car together.

“Isabel, when you’re finished with the background, I need you to go shake down your brother,” my mother said casually as she gathered her surveillance equipment.

“About?”

“About the twenty grand his firm still owes us on the Kramer job.”

“He’s going to tell me the same thing he always does. We get paid when they get paid.”

“It’s been three months. We expended six grand out of pocket and have not seen any return. I can’t pay our bills.”

My father likes to remind me whenever he hands me my paycheck (and has some time on his hands) that PI work will never make me rich. The fact is the PI bill gets paid last. Rent, office supplies, utilities are necessary for a business to thrive, but you can live without your private investigator. Although my parents have made a decent living for themselves with the business, there are times when we have a serious cash flow problem, which often happens when we do jobs for David.

“Then you talk to him. He’s your son,” I said. “You can use the whole guilt thing on him.”

“Your brother responds more to violence than guilt. Rough him up if you have to. But don’t leave that office without a check.”

Mom zipped up her bag and headed out the door with Jake in tow. When she was halfway out, she turned back to me. “Oh, and give David a kiss from me.”

I decided to drop by David’s office at 1:00 P.M., thinking I could get a free lunch out of the visit. When I arrived, his secretary, Linda, who is not-so-secretly in love with him, told me that my sister had already arrived. Linda, like all of David’s secretaries, believes that one day he will return her affections. But like so many other alpha males, my brother thinks monogamy is something you do somewhere between the age of forty and retirement. In fact, if I were searching for David’s single flaw, this would be it. My brother is a true and unrepentant heartbreaker.

I entered David’s office on the offensive. “What are you doing here?” I said, glaring suspiciously at Rae.

“Visiting,” Rae replied without a hint of contrition.

“Why aren’t you in school?”

“Half day,” she said, rolling her eyes.

“Show her the evidence,” said David.

Rae handed me a crumpled piece of paper—an official memo from school. Evidently she expected David to ask for documentation. I’d never known Rae to ditch school, but we are related, so it was natural for me to be suspicious.

“Okay, I’m out of here. See you next Friday, David. Later, Isabel.”

After Rae left, I turned to David for an explanation. “Next Friday?”

“She drops by every Friday,” David explained.

“Why?”

“To visit…mostly.”

“What else?”

“Well, she usually asks for spending money.”

“David, she makes ten bucks an hour working for Mom and Dad. She doesn’t need your money. How long has she been doing this?”

“Almost a year, I guess.”

“You give her money every week?”

“Sounds about right.”

“How much?”

“Ten dollars usually. Sometimes twenty, but I try to remember to keep the smaller bills on me these days.”

“So you’ve given her about five hundred bucks this year?”

“Do you ever say ‘dollar’ anymore?”

“That’s pathetic.”

“Isabel, why are you here?” David asked, desperate to change the subject.

“For money.”

“I see,” David replied, smirking, the irony of the situation not lost on him. “A collection call.”

“I can break a finger or two, bruise a few ribs, but Mom says to leave your pretty face alone. It’s twenty grand, David. Pay up.”

“You know our policy: We pay when the client pays. I can write you a personal check.”

“Mom won’t take it.”

“I don’t know what to tell you, Isabel.”

It didn’t end there. I plopped myself down on David’s couch and refused to move until he let me speak with a superior. David sighed and walked out of the office, returning ten minutes later with Jim Hunter. Hunter had been a partner in Fincher, Grayson for five years and specialized in fraud defense. Hunter is a fit-looking forty-two-year-old divorcé with a boyish haircut and an unsettling way of looking you directly in the eye. Since I couldn’t go home without some cash, I had to match his stare.

I thought my intimidation tactics were working when Hunter said he could get the bookkeeper to cut me a check for ten grand before I left.

“Under one condition,” he said. “You have dinner with me next Friday.”

Caught off guard, I said yes, knowing that if I didn’t I wouldn’t get paid that week, and if Mom found out I turned down both a date with a lawyer and ten grand, I’d never hear the end of it.

“I’ll pick you up at eight,” Hunter said, exiting the office.

David stifled a smile and I realized he had planned the whole thing.

“So you’re my pimp now?”



While I was trying to squeeze money out of David, my mom was dodging Jake’s flirty questions as they sat parked outside Mason Warner’s bistro.

“Mrs. Spell, were you always so hot?”

“Jake, give it a rest.”

Warner was on the move. He hopped into his Lexus and drove down Larkin Street. He parked on the corner of Larkin and Geary and entered the New Century Theatre, a strip club. After Warner entered the establishment, Jake unbuckled his seat belt and turned to my mom for instructions.

“Dream on,” my mother said, unbuckling her own seat belt and hopping out of the van.

Inside the New Century, my mother sat at a booth and ordered a club soda. Warner seemed decidedly uninterested in the floor show, studying paperwork provided by a gray-haired patron in a black turtleneck and designer jeans. There was a smattering of customers throughout the sea of maroon velvet.

However, it was not Warner who caught my mother’s eye. Seated in the front row, regarding the auburn-haired stripper with the focus of a religious zealot, was Sean Ryan, (soon-to-be) Ex-boyfriend #6. My mother is a woman who has seen everything, and so finding her daughter’s boyfriend in a strip club did not in itself raise a red flag. What troubled her was that the entire staff knew his name.

Warner left after a half-hour meeting with the turtleneck guy. Their conversation was lost under what sounded like the soundtrack from Shaft. My mother reluctantly exited the club on Warner’s heels and finished the job with Jake.

However, the next day, my mom pawned off the Warner detail on Dad and Uncle Ray, and returned to the New Century Theatre, wearing a shoulder-length blonde wig and sunglasses. She didn’t expect to see Sean there again, but he returned at precisely the same time and sat in precisely the same spot. Two days in a row at a strip club spurred my mother’s suspicion and she extended her tail on Ex-boyfriend #6 for the next week. He returned to the New Century twice more and frequented a number of sex shops in the neighborhood during the daytime. At night, Mom dropped her tail, knowing that Sean was either with me or at work.

My mother asked me when Sean’s birthday is. I fell for that trick since she was reading the horoscopes and had gone through every member of the family and a few of our seasonal employees first. When she asked about Ex #6, it was so casual, I didn’t catch on. I just assumed she was showing some interest, since Sean and I had been seeing each other for over three months—which, I should remind you, was some kind of record for me.

However, the birth date was not so Mom could buy him a present, but to acquire a Social Security number and run a credit check. (I never fell for that again.) From the credit check my mom used her sources at one of the credit card companies to access his recent charges. The ethics and legality of this move are beyond questionable, but my mom had a question that she needed answered.

Thursday morning, after my mother determined that her investigation was complete, she called me into the office for a debriefing.

“Sweetie, your boyfriend is a porn addict.”

“Jesus Christ,” I said, thinking if she really loved me, she’d have waited until I’d had my coffee. “And you know this how?”

My mother itemized Sean’s behavior during the prior week and then presented me with several credit card bills, as well as his rental history at Leather Tongue Video. I skimmed the titles, trying to keep my expression steady, but it was hard when the list included Tits of Fury; Dude, Where’s My Dildo?; Double-D Inspector; and Sperms of Endearment, among less derivative, but equally X-rated, titles.

“Honey, I got no problem with anyone who wants to give their sex life some spark with an adult video now and again. However, what I have observed points to a compulsive tendency.”

“What do you expect me to do with this information?” I asked.

“It’s up to you, sweetheart. I’m not suggesting you break up with him. All I’m saying is, if you plan on staying with Sean, you might want to learn how to give a first-rate lap dance.”

I made my exit without a sound. I couldn’t give my mother the satisfaction of any response. While I had no previous suspicions of what she had told me, I knew my mother and I knew that she didn’t misinterpret evidence. But I had to see it for myself. I had to assemble my own proof. That same night, I waited until Ex-boyfriend #6 was in a dead sleep and I turned on his computer. If a man’s not careful, you can learn an awful lot about him that way.

I broke up with #6 the next morning. But this time I got to utter the last words: I don’t think we have enough in common.

Lawyer #3

Friday night, an hour before my date with the fraud defense attorney, David called me up and told me to be on my best behavior or there would be repercussions. As I raced out of my apartment to meet Hunter on the street (in an attempt to avoid any parent-lawyer introductions), my mother shouted out the window at me, “Just be yourself, honey.” Contradictions like this have made my family life so difficult.

I knew immediately that this was not going to work out. Hunter is the kind of guy who dates women who wear high heels and a cocktail dress on a first date. I can’t even walk in heels, and I generally believe that someone has to earn the right to see my legs. Besides, I had just broken up with #6 that morning. And while I was not actively grieving over the demise of that relationship, I was still feeling the sting over how it had ended. I had no real romantic interest in Lawyer #3, but I didn’t see any point in wasting an opportunity to study the opposite sex. I decided to come up with a series of questions that would subtly weed out the potential porn addicts in my future and I practiced on Hunter.


	Do you like movies?

	How important is a film’s plot to you?

	Approximately how many videos do you rent a month?

	If stranded on a deserted island, would you rather have:

	a) The Complete Works of Shakespeare

	b) The Led Zeppelin boxed set

	c) The entire Debbie Does oeuvre





	Who’s your favorite actress?

	a)Meryl Streep

	b)Nicole Kidman

	c)Dame Judi Dench

	d)Jenna Jameson





	What is your favorite genre of film?

	a)Action-adventure

	b)Drama

	c)Romantic comedy

	d)Pornography







David phoned me the next morning with empty threats. He then called my mother to tattle on me. At breakfast, Mom railed against my lack of breeding and suggested that if I ever wanted to date a man who didn’t serve drinks for a living, I might have to take an etiquette class. My dad asked me what I ordered for dinner.



[image: image]

Because of my job, not in spite of it, I have always held a solid reverence for individual privacy and tried to respect it whenever I could—or whenever it didn’t interfere with my work. I used to, that is. Before Ex #6. Before my mother invaded our privacy and told me secrets I should have figured out on my own. After him, I began questioning my own instincts, wondering whether fifteen years on the job had taught me nothing about human behavior.

Three weeks later, Petra called me, insisting on setting me up with her newest client. For the last five years, Petra had been working as a stylist at a trendy salon on Lower Haight. It never occurred to me that going to beauty school could one day pay off with a salary in the six figures, but in Petra’s case it had. Having a way with scissors and a physique that attracted the moneyed metrosexuals of San Francisco, Petra charged over one hundred dollars a head. Her clientele was eighty percent male and no one pretended that the repeat business was purely for the cut. Her leather pants paid for themselves, she used to say. More like the leather pants paid her mortgage.

Petra was on the prowl to find me a date—specifically, a non-porn-addicted date. That was when Petra met Zack Greenberg, a walk-in who just happened to arrive during an unusual lull in business. He was polite, soft-spoken, and conditioned his hair regularly.

Petra, without realizing what I would do with the information, provided me with Zack’s home address and birth date. From that, I acquired a Social Security number and was able to run a credit check, criminal history (only in the state of California), and property search. On paper Zack Greenberg was clean and impressive. I pulled his birth record and ran further checks on his parents, two brothers, and one sister. Aside from his youngest brother’s Chapter 11 filing in 1996, the entire family was like a fifties sitcom. It was not until Petra told me that Zack didn’t own a TV that I agreed to the date. The equation seemed simple. No TV = No Porn. Sure, he could have a solid magazine collection and an Internet habit, but a real addict would be a film buff, too.

Our first few dates were a bit dull, possibly because he was going over material I already knew. His parents ran a bakery in Carmel. His sister was a homemaker with 1.8 children (pregnant). His older brother owned a successful family restaurant in Eugene, Oregon. His younger brother owned an unsuccessful used-book store in Portland. By all the evidence presented to me, Ex-boyfriend #7 was a Boy Scout from a long line of Boy Scouts (who occasionally earned the bankruptcy badge). Having never dated a man who had the courage to order wine coolers at happy hour, I was initially intrigued by his milquetoast ways.

On our first date we went to the Castro Theatre and saw a revival of The Philadelphia Story, followed by cappuccinos and a stroll through Dolores Park, where a number of youngsters offered us drugs. Zack responded to the solicitations with a polite “No, thank you,” as if he were turning down the product from a makeshift lemonade stand. Our second date consisted of an hour of arcade games (mostly skeeball), ice cream, and a brief soccer lesson, which ended with Zack on my couch, his shin packed in ice and me apologizing profusely. The relationship continued on in its quasi–Norman Rockwell fashion until I mentioned his brother’s bankruptcy (don’t ask) and Zack realized that he had never mentioned it.

Petra told me she would never set me up with anyone again until I “learned to use my powers for good and not evil.” My mother, who had met Zack and promptly begun daydreaming about a wedding, didn’t speak to me for three days. My father offered to pay for a video dating service, then laughed himself silly at that prospect. I, not so politely, declined.







CAMP WINNEMANCHA



Last fall, when Rae returned to school after summer break, she was assigned the customary five-hundred-word What I Did on My Summer Vacation paper for Mrs. Clyde’s eighth grade English class. Instead of writing an essay, Rae (now twelve and a half) turned in a copy of the Merck Investments surveillance report with all the sensitive information redacted. Upon receipt of Rae’s assignment, Mrs. Clyde without delay invited my mother and father for a parent-teacher conference and firmly suggested that next summer Rae go to sleepaway camp.

The following spring, when Rae was thirteen years old, Mrs. Clyde reinvited my parents for a follow-up parent-teacher conference and repeated her original suggestion with as much influence as she could marshal. My mother countered with an offer of swimming lessons and a dance class, but Mrs. Clyde held her ground, insisting that Rae needed to begin socializing more with her peers and participating in activities suitable for a girl her age. My mother made all the camp (said in a whisper) arrangements surreptitiously. She chose the setting, paid the tuition, and purchased most of the packing list, all the while remaining undetected. She and my father decided to wait until just one week before Rae’s departure date to reveal her summer plans.

Mom broke the news to my sister Saturday morning at exactly 7:15. I know this because Rae’s Greek-tragedy wails woke me out of a much-needed slumber. Her desperate protests continued throughout the morning and into the early afternoon, when she began phoning relatives in a quest to find allies in her camp-avoidance campaign. She even threatened to contact Child Services.

Of course she turned to me at one point. My response was, “David went to sleepaway camp. I went to sleepaway camp. Why shouldn’t you?” Then she turned on me, pointing out that I went to camp because it was ordered by the court.1

My mother sent Rae to her bedroom with a box of Cocoa Puffs and suggested she take some time to digest the shocking news. Then Mom sent me to the store to buy more sugared goods to bribe her younger daughter. While I was debating whether to purchase the generic or name-brand Nutter Butters, my cell phone rang.

“Hello?”

“Izzy, it’s Milo at the Philosopher’s Club.”

“Is everything all right?”

“No emergencies. But your sister is in my bar and I can’t get her to leave. Could you come and pick her up?”

“My sister?”

“Yeah. Rae, right?”

“I’ll be right there.”

I arrived at Milo’s twenty minutes later, stopping in the foyer to overhear the continuation of my sister’s hopeless appeals.

“I have a B-minus average. And that’s not, like, an A in PE and a C in math. That’s a B-minus across the board. I said I was willing to negotiate. I said I’d be flexible with my negotiations. I even suggested we go to a mediator to work this out. But nothing. Nothing. They wouldn’t budge an inch.”

I tapped Rae on the shoulder. “Come on. Time to go.”

“I’m not done with my drink yet,” she coldly replied. I looked down at the amber-hued beverage and turned to Milo.

“Ginger ale,” he said, reading my mind.

I finished Rae’s drink for her.

“Now you’re done. Let’s go.” I grabbed her by the back of her shirt and yanked her off the barstool.

In the car, Rae was suddenly silent—hopelessly and pathetically silent.

“I’m going to camp, aren’t I?”

“Yes.”

“And there’s nothing I can do about it?”

“Nothing.”

Rae calmly and suspiciously accepted her fate. She did not utter another word of protest for the rest of the week. She made casual small talk during the two-hour drive through the wine country and up the gravelly dirt road to Camp Winnemancha. My mother always taught Rae to choose her battles and her opponents wisely. It would take some time to realize, but Rae had learned this lesson all too well.



It began with phone calls—hourly messages, uncalculated and desperate. “Get me out of here or you’ll blow my college fund on mental health care.” “I’m serious, if you know what’s good for you, you won’t make me spend another day in this pit of hell.” Then Rae’s emergency cell phone was confiscated, which gave her some time to regroup and develop new tactics.

The letter-writing campaign was next. In the evening my dad would unwind while drinking a beer and reading aloud from Rae’s epistolary pleas:


My Dearest Family,

In theory, I’m sure that camp is an excellent idea. But frankly, I don’t think it is right for me. Why don’t we cut our losses and call it a day?

I look forward to seeing you when you pick me up tomorrow.

I love you all very much,

Rae



Rae’s second letter arrived on the same day as her first:


My Dearest Family,

I have skillfully negotiated with the camp director, Mr. Dutton, who assures me that if you pick me up from camp tomorrow, he will refund half of your investment. If you are still more concerned with the money than my mental well-being, I am willing to repay the remainder by working the rest of the summer for free. I look forward to seeing you tomorrow when you come get me out of here.

Love always,

Rae



P.S. I’ve enclosed a map and a $20 bill (gas money).

A second wave of phone messages began with a decidedly different flavor. Tuesday, 5:45 A.M.:


Hi, it’s me again. Thanks for the candy, but I’m on a hunger strike, so it’s useless to me. If you get this message in the next ten minutes, call me at…



My father skips to the next message. Tuesday, 7:15 A.>M.:


I think they’re running a white slavery ring out of this place. Use that information however you see fit. Uh-oh, I better run—





The next message didn’t arrive until Tuesday, 3:42 P.M.:


Hi, it’s Rae. I changed my mind. This place isn’t so bad. I just snorted a line of cocaine and things are looking much brighter. I could use some more money—like a grand. And maybe some cigarettes.



The last message made my dad laugh so hard, he choked on his coffee and then spent the next ten minutes recovering from a coughing fit. He said the messages alone were worth the cost of camp. But then the phone calls to Spellman Investigations halted abruptly.

When I arrived early, for an 11:00 A.M. meeting at David’s office, Rae was already into her fourth phone call of the day to our brother. It was the first time that I noticed David spoke to all his family members as if we were well-funded but extremely difficult clients.

“Listen to me very carefully, Rae,” my brother said. “I’m going to have my secretary send you a care package today—let me finish. In it will be all the crap you like. You’re going to eat it. You’re going to share it. And you will write me a letter—one letter only—thanking me for my thoughtful gift and informing me of at least one friend you’ve made. If I receive the letter and you refrain from making any more phone calls to me during the duration of your stay, then I’ll have a nice fifty-dollar bill for you when you return. Got it? I will not accept any more phone calls from a Rae Spellman.”

David hung up the phone, satisfied that he had made his point.

“For fifty bucks and some candy, I’ll stop calling you, too,” I said.

Five minutes later, David got another phone call. The interim receptionist buzzed through.

“Mr. Spellman, your sister Isabel is on the phone.”

David replied, “My sister Isabel is sitting right in front of me.”

“Excuse me, sir?”

“Put her through.” David paused before he picked up the phone, still deciding what tack to take, presumably.

“That’s it, Rae. No candy and no money,” David said in his most hardball lawyerly manner and slammed the phone into the receiver.

“It’s hard to believe I’m related to her,” David said. Then, after he thought about it, continued, “Or you, for that matter.”

What I found hard to believe was that Rae never called David back. I didn’t realize until much later that Rae had chosen a new opponent and an entirely different battle.



Weeks later, Rae told me precisely when the tables had turned for her, when she knew that “this was a matter of life or death.”

“At no point was it a matter of life or death, Rae,” I said. To which she replied, “If that’s what you have to tell yourself.”

Semantics aside, the turning point was the Camp Winnemancha talent show.

Kathryn Stewart, age twelve, was singing that annoying song from Titanic. Haley Granger and Darcy Spiegelman had just performed a tap dance duet to some crappy showtune. Tiffany Schmidt lip-synched and pranced around to a Britney Spears song. And Jamie Gerber and Brian Hall performed an original hip-hop number “so embarrassing it hurt.” Rae claimed that the talent show was the first thing that had made her cry in over two years. She responded with a talent act of her own: nicking one of the camp director’s cell phones and stealing out of the auditorium undetected.

While the rest of the camp was distracted by the parade of future American Idol contestants, my sister roamed the woods draining the battery on Director Webber’s mobile phone. This time she didn’t call my brother, my mother, or my father. Rae had a plan and she was only interested in talking to one person: me. There were three messages on my cell phone, one at the office, and five on my home phone when I finally decided to pick up the latest call from a 707 area code. It was my plan to put an end to this once and for all.

“Rae, if you don’t stop calling me, I’m going to file harassment charges with the police.”

“I don’t think you can file those charges against a minor. You might have to file them against Mom or Dad on behalf of me. And I think they’d get mad at you if you did.”

“Rae, where are you calling from?”

“A cell phone.”

“I thought your phone was confiscated.”

“It was.”

“So where’d you get the phone?”

“I borrowed it.”

“Is ‘borrow’ in quotes?”

“Remember the Popovsky case?” Rae asked coolly.

My hand tightened over the phone, wondering where she was going with this. “Yes,” I said.

“You told Mom and Dad not to take the case. You said Mrs. Popovsky was a horrible woman and Mr. Popovsky didn’t deserve to be hounded by PIs.”

“I know what I said, Rae.”

“Do you remember calling Mr. Popovsky to warn him that he was going to be under twenty-four-hour surveillance?”

“I remember.”

“Do you remember driving Mr. Popovsky to the airport in the middle of the night and telling him that his soon-to-be-ex wife was hiding assets in an offshore account?”

“I said I remember.”

“Do you remember giving him the account number?”

“Get to the point, Rae.”

“I don’t think Mom or Dad would take kindly to this information.”

I knew my sister was capable of many things. But this did, in fact, surprise me.

“Are you blackmailing me?” I asked point-blank.

“That’s an ugly word,” Rae replied, and I wondered what movie she’d gotten that line from.

“Yes, it is.”

“I’ll see you tomorrow,” Rae said and hung up the phone.



My drive through the wine country breezed by. Rage kills monotony better than any book on tape. I screeched to a halt in front of the camp office, a building fashioned after a log cabin. Through the dust that billowed around my car, I spotted Rae sitting on a collection of duffel bags. When she saw the car, her eyes lit up and she raced toward me for a hug.

“Thank you. Thank you. Thank you.”

I pried her arms off me and pushed her away. “Do I need to sign you out?” I said as roughly as I could.

She tentatively pointed to the office. I settled the paperwork and returned to the car. I popped the trunk and told her to put her bags inside.

“I’ll never forget this, Izzy.”

After I slammed the trunk shut, I grabbed Rae by her forest-green Camp Winnemancha T-shirt and twisted the collar into a mild choke hold. Then I slammed Rae against the side of the car. (If you’re thinking this is harsh, trust me, she can take it.)

“Now you want to play nice? I don’t think so. I will not live like this. I will not have my thirteen-year-old sister playing me like a puppet. Blackmail is a crime, Rae. It’s not a game. Manipulating people is wrong. Sometimes life isn’t perfect and you just have to suck it up and deal. Can you do that? Or do you want to keep playing games with me? If you do, we’re on. But I should warn you: Fucking with me is an extremely bad idea. So what’s it gonna be, Rae? Are we gonna play nice, or do you want to see how dirty I can fight?”

Sometimes you can just feel eyes upon you. Two camp counselors and two campers were frozen in their tracks, internally debating whether they should call the authorities. I released my hold on Rae and walked around to the driver’s-side door. Rae turned to our audience and broke the tension with a shrug of the shoulders.

“We’re actors,” she said, and then hopped in the car.

Rae remained silent for the first seven minutes of the drive, breaking her previous record by five-and-a-half minutes. I wasn’t surprised when she finally spoke.

“I love you, Isabel. I really, really love you.”

“No talking,” I answered, wondering how long I could realistically enjoy the quiet.

Five minutes later, Rae asked, “Can we get ice cream?” as if nothing had happened at all.

Lawyer #4

When David learned that I had retrieved Rae from camp, he immediately grew suspicious and invited me out to lunch. Over mussels and pommes frites at Café Claude, David asked a question that would have been obvious only to him.

“Does Rae have dirt on you?”

“Excuse me?” I replied, playing innocent.

“You wanted her to go to camp more than anyone else and then out of the blue you change your mind and bring her home. She’s got something on you. That’s the only logical explanation.”

“You’re wrong—”

“Deny it all you want, but since Rae has got dirt on you, I in theory have dirt on you, since I could reveal Rae’s dirt to Mom and Dad without actually knowing what the specific dirt is. Then it would only be a matter of time before they got it out of Rae. And I have a feeling you really don’t want them to know. Therefore, whatever power Rae wields over you, I do, as well.”

“Where are you going with this?” I asked nervously.

“Saturday you’re going on a date with my friend Jack. You don’t get a last name. He’ll pick you up at seven. Please wear something clean and brush your hair.”

I slowly gathered my belongings and headed for the door. At the last moment I turned back and said, “This is not normal.”

“That’s what I’ve been saying for years,” David replied.



Jack Weaver, Lawyer #4, arrived at 6:55 P.M., which rendered the parent-lawyer introductions inescapable. My mother gushed over the cashmere-clad attorney with the transparent tact of a campaigning politician. I checked my watch every minute or so and suggested it was time to go, until my mother snapped, “Give it a rest, Izzy.” My father gave Jack his cell phone number and told him to call should I give him any trouble and then laughed himself silly over his little joke.

By 7:45 P.M. we were on the 101, heading south to Bay Meadows Racetrack. Apparently Jack liked to gamble with more than just his time.

I became suspicious immediately. Jack was clearly not a man in need of a matchmaker. He had a clean-scrubbed messiness about him that I associate with men who try to downplay their looks. His clothes were just a bit untucked and his hair a touch uncoiffed, yet nothing seemed calculated for that effect. I became certain that there was no way in hell Jack willingly submitted to this date. Coercion was involved, yet there was no logic I could impose on David’s arranging this date. The only person who benefited was my mother.

It is an uncommon condition, but my mother has a true and unwavering love for lawyers. I can cite only a few possibilities for why this is the case. Perhaps because her perfect son is a lawyer, or because we get most of our business from lawyers, or maybe it’s the nice suits they wear, or maybe she’s just a sucker for higher education. I am less concerned with the foundation for this fact than the fact itself. The fact cuts into my quality of life.

As the evening wore on, my suspicion mingled more and more with attraction. What I discovered beneath the surface of this well-groomed attorney was a man with a serious gambling problem. It was his careful study of the morning line followed by outrageously inappropriate betting that gave it away. This would turn off most women, but not me. I’ve always preferred men with flaws; it’s simply easier for me to relate to them. But what made this discovery particularly sweet was that my mother had unwittingly sanctioned a date between me and a man who probably had a bookie on his payroll.

While Jack placed yet another five-hundred-dollar bet on a two-year-old gelding that he had a good feeling about, my attention shifted to a suspicious male roaming the upper tier of the racetrack bleachers. I watched Suspicious Male from a distance at first and noticed that none of his movements indicated any real interest in the horse races themselves. When a race was on, Suspicious Male rarely looked at the track, just at the patrons. When I observed Suspicious Male bump into a man eating an ice cream cone by the concession stand, I approached the man eating the ice cream cone after the fact and asked him if he still had his wallet. He did not.

I ran after Suspicious Male, who was now descending the bleachers in the direction of the men’s restroom. Jack caught up with me and asked me what I was up to. I explained I was following a potential pickpocket.

I caught up with Suspicious Male and blocked his passage into the restroom.

“Hey, asshole, hand it over.”

Suspicious Male visibly paled and said, “Excuse me, ma’am?”

“Don’t call me ‘ma’am.’ Just give me the fucking wallet,” I said, shoving Suspicious Male against the graffiti-coated wall. He eyed Jack and then me and decided it wasn’t worth the fight. Suspicious Male handed me the wallet and then raced into the bathroom.

My sting operation distracted Lawyer #4 from race #7. His horse lost, which was statistically predictable since it was a long shot, but Jack was still disappointed at missing the race. Like many gamblers or habitual sporting-event watchers, he was convinced that his observation of an event could alter its ultimate outcome. After we returned the wallet to its rightful owner and offered a description of the perpetrator to the head of security, I asked Jack if he wanted to bet on another race, but he said no. He was no longer feeling lucky.



The following Monday I dropped by David’s office to discuss an upcoming surveillance job and Lawyer #4. The fact was, this lawyer I could like.

“What did he say about me?” I subtly inquired.

“Who?”

“Lawyer Number #4.”

“You will never be in a normal relationship if you keep bar-coding your dates.”

“I know he said something.”

Struggling to control a smirk, David said, “He described you as a cross between Dirty Harry and Nancy Drew.”

“Is that a compliment?” I asked.

“I don’t think so.”

Lost Weekend #22

Uncle Ray disappeared again. It had been twelve days since anyone in the city had seen him. My father tracked Ray’s credit card charges to a Caesars Palace in Lake Tahoe. Neither of my parents was able to break away for a trip to collect him. The responsibility then fell on me. I didn’t want to go alone, so I called David, thinking it was a long shot.

“Will I have time to ski?” he asked.

“Sure, while I’m prying the bottle of bourbon out of Uncle Ray’s hands and paying off his hookers, you have a ball.”

“Okay, I’ll go,” David replied, ignoring my sarcasm.



I saw the drive as an opportunity to find out what dirt my mother had over my brother.

“Admit it, David, I embarrass you.”

“I’ll admit that freely.”

“There is no logical reason why you would want to set me up with your friends.”

“I’m hoping some of their manners will rub off on you. Think of it as cheap charm school.”

“This is all part of Mom’s master plan. And I know you. You wouldn’t do this just to please her. She’s got dirt.”

“Are you suggesting that Mom has blackmailed me into setting you up with my colleagues?”

“Can anyone in our family answer a straight question?”

“Uncle Ray is pretty good at it.”

Seven hours later, I found my uncle playing Caribbean poker in the Tahoe Harrah’s casino. I asked him what he’d been up to for the past two weeks and he replied, “Let’s see. I went on a five-day bender, sobered up during a forty-eight-hour poker game. Had a few dates in Reno. Another poker game. Three days, for the life of me, I can’t remember. And the last four days or so, I’ve been trying my luck at the tables. How are you, sweetie?”

David was right. Uncle Ray was the only straight shooter in the family. On occasion my sister would come close, but she used deception when necessary. For my uncle, there was no stealth in his debauchery. He wore it like a crown.

It had taken four hours of casino hopping to locate Uncle Ray. David, true to his word, went skiing and left the dirty work to me. In the last fortnight it turned out that Uncle Ray had lost everything—in fact, more than everything—his entire savings, his pension for the next six months, his fifty-dollar watch, a gold money clip my mother had given him for his last birthday, and a pair of shoes (I think), since he was wearing dime-store flip-flops. I tried to pry him away from the tables, but he refused to leave until he won something.

“Something, Izzy. I can’t end it on a streak like this. It’s bad for my karma.”

“What about your bank account?”

“Izzy, there are more important things in life than money.”

“You have to say that, since you don’t have any left.”

“Sweetheart, I’d really like you to work on that negativity problem.”

Ray played another hand and lost. But there were still chips on the table and I could think of only one way to disengage him.

“Uncle Ray, how about we go to the bar and I buy you a drink.”

“You got it, Izzy. But you’ll be buying me more than one.”

Uncle Ray passed out the second we put him in the backseat of David’s car. We buckled in his chest and his legs and kept him sideways, should he decide to vomit.

On the drive back to the city, David and I reverted to our adolescent pastime of ranking Ray’s Lost Weekends.

“If that wasn’t a five-star weekend, I don’t know what is,” I said.

“This may sound naïve,” David said, “but I always believed this was a phase. That one day old Uncle Ray would return.”

“He’s gone forever,” I said with complete conviction. “And I should warn you, there’s a good chance he’s going to piss himself.”

David sighed and answered with ease, “Yes, I know.”

Uncle Ray’s Brush with Rehab

Lost Weekend #22 was, fiscally speaking, more devastating than the rest. Uncle Ray really had lost it all. My father, at his wit’s end, arranged for Ray to go to a thirty-day rehab program that specialized in multiple addictions, called Green Leaf Recovery Center (David and I laughed convulsively for fifteen minutes when we heard the name), in Petaluma. Ray went along for the drive, but as they approached the verdant road lined with A-frame houses, Uncle Ray turned to my father and said, “It’s not gonna stick, you know.”

“Will you try?” asked my dad.

“Anything for you, Al. But it’s not gonna stick.”

“How do you know?”

“I know myself. At least now I do.”

“Tell me what to do, Ray.”

“Keep your money.”

“You can’t keep disappearing like that.”

Uncle Ray had been waiting for the opportunity to ask the next question.

“So maybe I can move in with you guys until I get on my feet? Pay off my debt. That sort of thing.”

“You want to move in?”

“I thought maybe I could have David’s old room. You don’t think he’d mind?”

“No,” my father said laconically. The last thing in the world David would want was his old room back.

Dad started up the car and then turned to Uncle Ray to solidify the deal. “No hookers, drugs, or poker games in the house.”

“You got it, Al.”

And that is when Uncle Ray moved in to 1799 Clay Street.








THE INTERVIEW

CHAPTER 3




“Do you think it was wise,” Inspector Stone asks, “for your parents to allow an admitted drug- /gambling- /sex-addicted alcoholic into the home of an impressionable adolescent girl?”

“I don’t think Uncle Ray was a sex addict. He liked hookers—sure—but it wasn’t like a regular thing for him.”

“Do I need to repeat the question?”

“Uncle Ray was a disaster, but he wasn’t interested in taking anyone down with him. You couldn’t count on him to mow the lawn or do the dishes, but you could trust he wouldn’t hurt anyone.”

“According to all sources, your sister’s reaction to his arrival was quite volatile. Do you care to elaborate?”

“They were at war.”

“So tell me about the war.”

What Inspector Stone doesn’t realize is that there was not just one war, there was a series of wars, battles, and melees simmering constantly. It was endless. I could draw a diagram of all the family members on a piece of paper and map the conflicts until the page resembled a spiderweb. It is not just one war that is responsible for the one that we will all remember. Like a house of cards, if you remove one piece, the structure topples.








Part Two

The Spellman Wars









THE SUGAR WAR



The wave of familial discord, precipitated by Rae’s camp ordeal, soon settled into an eerie calm. A few weeks later, Rae was still feeling the gratitude of having been sprung and strived to be on her best behavior. I, however, was still feeling the sting from her shady tactics and needed a modicum of revenge. Since Rae is usually aboveboard in her activities, I had a single offense: to take away her one and only vice—junk food. I began noticing that her Pop-Tart breakfasts bled into Frito and Twinkie lunches. At family dinners, she picked at the main course, ate her vegetables under extreme duress, and then devoured dessert like a wild animal. I was irked by the fact that I was the only one who noticed this. But it was my fault, wasn’t it? I raised the bar on acceptable behavior in that house and Rae always managed to stay well under it.

However, just because her habits went unnoticed did not mean that I couldn’t persuade my parents to attend to them. I brought home articles on the effects of large sugar consumption on adolescents and its relationship with low scores on aptitude tests in school. I showed documentation on the correlation between old-age diabetes and sugar consumption in youth. I suggested that precautionary measures be enforced. My mother suspiciously agreed: Sugar on the weekends only. No exceptions.

Rae ran upstairs and banged on my apartment door when she heard the news. “How could you?” she asked, almost teary-eyed.

“I’m concerned for your health.”

“Yeah, right.”

“You want to call a truce?”

“Fine.”

Rae reluctantly held out her hand and we shook on it. However, a truce with me would eventually seem trivial, as Rae was about to begin a battle I didn’t know she had in her.







THE RA(E/Y) WARS



I locked my apartment door and tiptoed down the staircase, hoping to avoid chitchat with any family member. In particular, I was trying to avoid my mother, who had found another lawyer she wanted me to drink coffee with. I tried explaining to her that I was capable of drinking coffee without legal help, but she did not follow my logic.

Instead of running into my mother, I found Rae (with binoculars) peering out the window on the second landing. I checked the view and saw that Uncle Ray was moving in. Instead of a large orange-and-white truck outside, his moving vehicle was a Yellow Cab. It was a heartbreaking sight, and I turned to Rae, hoping that she might have seen the same thing.

“What are you doing?” I asked.

“Nothing,” she replied sharply, and I knew she didn’t see a tragic old man. She saw her archenemy.

“Don’t you think it’s time to let this thing go?”

I could tell from the look on Rae’s face that she didn’t.

Let me explain: My sister Rae and my uncle Ray had been at odds for about six years. It began when Rae was eight and discovered that her uncle had dipped into her well-catalogued Halloween stash. The tension mounted when she turned ten and Uncle Ray bought her a pink dress for her birthday and not the walkie-talkies she had so pointedly demanded. And then it escalated into a full-grown battle when my uncle fell asleep on a surveillance job they were working together and could not be woken with even the most violent kicking. Between all the aforementioned events, their strife was peppered with TV hogging, appropriations of favorite cereals, and the constant sharp tongue of my grudge-holding sibling.

Still, I repeated my question: “Don’t you think it’s time to let this thing go?”

“No, I don’t,” Rae replied. So I left her alone on the staircase to spy on her uncle.



I met Uncle Ray as he was walking up the steps into the foyer, lugging a badly packed duffel bag. I took the bag off his shoulder and questioned its contents.

“Let’s see. I got a winter coat, a couple pairs of shoes, a bowling ball, and I think some sandwiches I made this morning with what was left in the fridge.”

“Next time, ask Mom to help you pack.” I carried the bag inside and put it on David’s—now Uncle Ray’s—bed. “Good to have you here, Uncle Ray.”

Ray pinched my cheek and said, “You were always my favorite designated driver.”

I leaned against the windowsill as Ray proceeded to unpack. He pulled items from the lumpy bag and placed them throughout the room without any hint of order or purpose. There was only one article that he had packed with a sense of care. Wrapped in towels of increasing size was a tastefully framed photograph of the Spellman clan. Uncle Ray laid the picture on his dresser and then adjusted its placement just so. While there are dozens of photographs throughout my parents’ house, there is not a single one of all the family members. The image merely reminded me of how incongruous we appeared together.

My mother’s long hair and athletically petite frame have erased at least a decade off her fifty-four years. Her sharp, even features stood up well to the hazards of time. But Dad’s thinning hair and growing gut have added some years, and only his wrinkles provided unity to his mismatched features. Uncle Ray shared a single feature with Albert—the broad, slightly flattened nose. Ray was leaner, handsomer, and blonder than my father. And then there was David’s fashion-model perfection, which appeared utterly alien next to Rae, who was ultimately a tiny, cuter version of her uncle. She was the fairest of the Spellman children, dirty blonde with gray-blue eyes and a pattern of freckles across her often tanned face. I towered over Rae, appearing like a clumsier version of my mother.

Uncle Ray dusted off the photograph and decided that he needed a break after the arduous five minutes of unpacking. He offered to make me a sandwich. I declined, thinking it might be a good idea to give my father a warning message.

I caught my dad at his desk.

“Trouble is brewing with the short one. I’d get on it if I were you,” I said.

“How bad?” my dad asked.

“Five stars, if you ask me. But only time will tell.”



That afternoon, I dropped by David’s office to deliver a surveillance report on the Mercer case (stock analyst suspected of insider trading).

I was able to deliver the report early because the subject did the same exact thing seven days in a row. Gym. Work. Home. Sleep. Repeat. I adore creatures of habit. They make my job so much easier.

When I announced myself to Linda, she explained that he was in the middle of a haircut. I strode into David’s office and discovered that the haircut was being administered by my best friend, Petra.

“What are you doing here?” Petra casually asked.

“Delivering a surveillance report. Why are you cutting my brother’s hair?”

“I can give you two hundred and fifty reasons why,” Petra, now in a new tax bracket, replied.

I feigned shock at my brother’s intemperance, but really, it didn’t surprise me at all.

“Did you have to tell her how much I pay you?” David asked.

“There is no such thing as client-stylist confidentiality.”

“How long has this been going on?” I inquired.

They turned to each other to calculate a response. I was disappointed. Any relative or friend of mine should have a better concept of stealth.

I offered up an exaggerated sigh and said, “Forget it.” I tossed the surveillance report on David’s desk and headed for the door. “Why you feel the need to keep a fucking haircut from me, I will never understand.”

“See you tonight, Isabel” was David’s only response, that night being Uncle Ray’s welcome-home dinner.



I had forgotten about the dinner until David reminded me. Had I remembered, I would have tried to weasel my way out of it. The Ra(e/y) Wars were brewing and I was determined to stay out of them. However, their impact, as I correctly anticipated, could not be outrun.

I returned home early that evening and found Rae on the living room floor obliterating a gift-wrapped box from the local electronics store. It was the newest, top-of-the-line digital video recorder. In fact, Spellman Investigations still had not updated their equipment to this level. Somehow my parents deemed it reasonable to bestow this enormous gift on a teenage girl when birthday and Christmas were either long gone or far away.

As Rae sat as an island amid a sea of Styrofoam, plastic wrap, and cardboard, I eyed my parents with the superior skepticism of an IRS agent and waited patiently for them to catch my stare. True to form, they avoided eye contact, knowing full well what I was thinking. I casually walked over to my father.

“Not one word, Isabel.”

“Are you willing to pay for my silence?”

My father’s posture sagged as he imagined an endless stream of payoffs and buyouts. I was joking, of course, but I let the threat hang in the air.

“I suppose it’s only fair. What do you want?”

“Relax, Dad. I don’t want to shake you down. But I would like to say—”

“I am begging you, Isabel, don’t say anything.”

Finding the prospect of holding my tongue almost unbearable, I grabbed a beer and then plopped down on the couch in the den next to Uncle Ray, who thoughtfully handed me his plate of cheese and crackers as he channel surfed. When he hit upon an episode of Get Smart from the first season, I said, “Stop.”

Max1 and Agent 99, disguised as a doctor and nurse, roamed the halls of Harvey Satan’s sanitarium.2

“Can you bring me up to speed?” asked Uncle Ray, who sadly does not have a catalogue of episodes imprinted in his brain.

“KAOS3 agents have kidnapped the chief and are holding him for ransom. Oh, and there’s this scene that you just missed where Max uses seven different kinds of phones. A shoe phone, wallet phone, eyeglasses phone, tie phone, handkerchief phone, and…I can’t remember the last one.4”

“What is the chief doing in the closet?” asked my uncle.

“It’s not a closet. It’s a freezer.”

“Why are they freezing him?”

“They need to lower his body temperature for mind-control surgery.”

“Okay. That makes sense,” said Ray, who took back his plate of cheese and crackers.

A commercial came on the TV and Uncle Ray pretended to be engrossed in the latest acne remedy.

“You think the kid will get used to me after a while?”

“Yeah, Uncle Ray, I think she’ll come around. Eventually.”

“I hope so. Been wearing my lucky shirt.”

“I noticed.”

The lucky shirt: a threadbare, short-sleeved, Hawaiian-print number that had been in circulation nearing two decades. It used to surface only on special occasions—the Super Bowl, the playoffs, the World Series. Eventually it made its way into a smattering of poker games and casual weddings, but lately it was rare to see him in anything else.

At dinner my sister’s pointed glares across the table discomfited all. David and my father made dull small talk about work, but it was my mother who briefly eased the tension, by redirecting it.

“Don’t you think that’s enough red meat for one day?” she asked as my father reached for a second helping of roast beef.

Dad served himself two more slices and said, “Yes, now it is.”

“I thought Dr. Schneider put you on a diet.”

“He did,” Dad replied.

“How’s it going?” my mom asked.

“Great.”

“Have you lost any weight?”

“As a matter of fact, I have.”

“How much?” she asked.

“A pound,” my father replied proudly.

“You were supposed to start that diet one month ago. You’ve lost only one pound so far?” asked my mom.

“All the experts say it’s better to lose it slow and steady.”

“That’s good. So you’ll be thin somewhere around the time you’re eligible for Social Security benefits,” said Mom, holding her glare.

“You’re not the boss of me, Olivia.”

“The hell I’m not.”

Since some variety of this conversation was a staple of most Spellman family meals, the rest of table continued eating without much notice. Then Uncle Ray made the fatal mistake of speaking to my sister.

“Rae-Rae, pass the potatoes, will ya?” said my uncle.

My sister continued eating, deliberately not responding to the request. My mother waited a moment, hoping, probably praying. When her younger daughter still refused to move, she intervened.

“Sweetie, Uncle Ray wants you to pass the potatoes.”

“No, he wants ‘Rae-Rae’ to pass him the potatoes. I don’t know who ‘Rae-Rae’ is,” my sister snapped.

I reached across the table, elbowing Rae, picked up the potatoes, and handed them to my uncle.

“My name is Rae. Just one Rae. Not two. Just one.” Rae spelled it out like the rudest member of the debate team.

“How long are you going to hold this grudge?” my uncle asked.

“How long are you going to wear that shirt?”

“Don’t talk about the shirt.”

“Why, can it hear me?”

“Just don’t talk about it. We don’t need the negative energy.”

My brother, the lawyer, the corporate dealmaker, the man who bills four hundred dollars an hour, believes he can negotiate anything. He is foolish enough to think that he can negotiate peace through mutual understanding. At times like this, I believe it is very possible that David was swapped with the real Spellman boy at the hospital.

“Uncle Ray, tell her about the shirt. Maybe she’ll understand,” said David.

“No way.”

“Either you tell her or I’ll tell her,” my brother said, knowing the effect of his words.

“You won’t tell it right, David.”

“Go on, tell me about the shirt,” Rae said, folding her arms across her chest.

Uncle Ray contemplated his delivery, cleared his throat, and offered a dramatic pause.

“January twenty-second, 1989. Superbowl Twenty-three, score sixteen to thirteen Bengals, with three minutes, twenty seconds left on the clock. Montana makes five consecutive passes to move the ball to the Bengals’ thirty-five. A holding penalty. The ball goes back ten yards. Yet Montana comes up with a twenty-seven-yard completion to Rice. A time-out and he connects with Taylor in the middle of the end zone. I’m wearing the shirt. June second, 1991. Oak Tree. I put one hundred on Blue Lady. Who knows why? I’m in the mood for a long shot. Blue Lady noses Silver Arrow in the final stretch. Payoff: thirty-six to one. I’m wearing the shirt. September third, 1993. I go into Sal’s Deli and Liquor to buy some lottery tickets. I walk in on a two-eleven in progress, surprising the perp. He fires five rounds in my direction before I can pull out my piece and take him down. Not a scratch on me. No one dies that day, and the perp has only a flesh wound. I’m wearing the shirt.”

Uncle Ray clears his throat and continues devouring his plate of potatoes.

Rae puts a worn blue high-top sneaker on the table. I smack her foot off, but she puts it up again.

“February, this year,” she says, “I take third place in the eighth grade tetherball tournament. I’m wearing the shoes. June, same year. I score eighty-three percent on my algebra final without cracking the book. I’m wearing the shoes. Last Thursday, I narrowly miss running my bike into a squad car. I’m wearing the shoes. But still, I rotate!”

“Get your feet off the table,” my mother snaps. Rae retires her shoe to the floor and glares, once again, at Uncle Ray. I decide to remind my sister of some recent events and their implications.

“In case you didn’t notice, Rae, today you were bribed. That high-tech, digital surveillance camera you received is not a free gift. Do not be mistaken. The gift is intended to persuade you to be at least moderately polite to your uncle during his stay here.”

Rae doesn’t believe me. She sustains a half grin, waiting for the punch line. When none is offered, she looks around the table, eventually turning to my dad.

“Is it true?” she asks.

“Yes, pumpkin. It’s true.”








THE WAR ON RECREATIONAL SURVEILLANCE

CHAPTER 1




It had started when Rae was thirteen and I ignored it. We all ignored it for a while. She did it after school, on weekends and holidays, when the sun was shining and she felt like a bike ride or a stroll. But then Uncle Ray moved in and with his presence came another able-bodied workhorse. Not that he worked hard—on the contrary, but hiring Uncle Ray over Rae, whether that was a conscious or unconscious decision, made sense. Billing out for the work of a fourteen-year-old girl brought in twenty-five dollars an hour, plus expenses. However, billing out for the services of a retired SFPD inspector, we could charge fifty dollars an hour. Besides, Ray could drive and pee in a jar (a gender-specific talent that should not be underestimated). There were four sound reasons to use Uncle Ray over Rae and, generally speaking, you could rely on Ray staying out of the bars until the end of his ten-hour shift. It was only Rae who noticed that her assignments had waned over the last few months. Only I noticed how Rae was compensating for this loss.

Now, at age fourteen, my sister’s curfew had been set at 10:00 P.M. on weekends and 8:00 P.M. on school nights. Until recently she had never tested those boundaries. Rae has only two friends in school—Arie Watt and Lori Freeman—both of whom have curfews well before Rae’s. That said, on a typical school day, Rae came home at 5:00 P.M., sometimes 7:00 when she was studying with Arie or Lori, and on the weekends, she never left the house unless she was on the job, going to a movie, or had a specific plan with one of her two friends. There were rare sleepovers (at Lori’s) and even rarer supervised parties. But for the most part, Rae’s home was her castle and she couldn’t wait to be safely ensconced within it or at least within the surveillance van.

So when she began testing the limits of her curfew, when she would arrive home flushed and clammy from running the last distance before the clock struck eight, I knew she was hiding something. I could have asked Rae what she was up to, but that is not our way. Instead, I followed her.

Rae had mastered the B-minus average that my parents mandated. She had mastered the B-minus while doing virtually no work beyond school walls. I picked up the tail at the end of her school day. Rae hopped on her bike and rode up to Polk Street. She carefully wove her lock from the front wheel through the base of the bike, as my father had taught her, sat on a bench, and pulled out a schoolbook. An uninformed observer would tell you that she was studying while waiting for a bus—the book, her school uniform, and the bus bench would evidence that assessment. But I knew she was prowling for someone to tail. A few minutes later a woman in her early thirties, carrying an oversize purse, exited the bookstore a few doors down. She pulled some papers from her inelegant bag, ripped them in quarters, and tossed them fervently into the garbage can that was sitting next to Rae.

The woman’s jittery hands and nervous bearing piqued Rae’s interest. My sister closed her book as the woman took her leave, waited the requisite twenty seconds, and then followed her. I was still parked around the corner at the other end of the block. I quickly started the car and turned onto Polk Street, driving as slowly as I could until I caught up with Rae. I made a quick turn in front of my sister as she was crossing the street.

“Can I give you a lift?” I offered as I rolled down the window. She knew that I had followed her. She knew that I knew what she was doing. I could have written out the math equation she was internally calculating. Defiance was typically not Rae’s method. Unlike me, she acquiesced whenever her heart allowed for it. She knew enough to avoid raising further suspicion.

“Thanks. I didn’t feel like walking,” she said, getting in.

I said nothing, thinking this might be a one-time deal and so what if, after school, my sister on occasion shadows complete strangers? It is exercise, isn’t it?

I let it slide for a few weeks, as she tested her curfew more and more. Then it appeared that she had scaled back her recreational surveillance. She was suddenly returning home before dinner and staying in her room most of the night. My parents attributed the solitude to Uncle Ray avoidance. I, on the other hand, was not so ready to trust someone who shared my DNA.

My attic apartment sits just above Rae’s bedroom on the second floor. An outside fire escape connects the two rooms. When Rae was five, she caught me sneaking out one night and discovered an alternate passage into my bedroom. I quickly disabused her of this habit, not just because it was dangerous, but also because my bed sat just below the window and her late-night entrances usually involved leaving size-three tread marks on my face.

Six Months Ago

I heard the slow creak of the fire escape ladder shortly before 7:00 P.M. I was about to look out my window when the telephone rang.

“Hello.”

“Hello, is this Isabel?” a male voice asked.

Generally I don’t answer questions like that, but this was my private line.

“Yes. Who is this?”

“Hi. My name is Benjamin McDonald. I met your mother at the library.”

“The library?”

“Yes.”

“Which library?”

“The main library. Downtown.”

“What was she doing there?”

“I assume checking out books.”

“Did you see her with any books?”

“I think so.”

“Do you remember which ones?”

“No.”

“Not even one?”

“No. Anyway, the reason I’m calling—”

“What were you doing there?”

“Where?”

“At the library?”

“Oh, I had some research to do.”

“Legal research?”

“Yes, as a matter of fact.”

“So you’re a lawyer?”

“Yes. So I was thinking that maybe we could—”

“Have coffee?”

“Yes. Coffee.”

“No. I’m no longer having coffee with lawyers. But could I ask you a question before we hang up?”

“All you’ve been doing is asking me questions.”

“Good point. What did my mother tell you about me?”

“Not much.”

“So why did you agree to this?”

“She offered me a twenty percent discount on investigative work.”

I hung up the phone and raced downstairs.

“Mom, we need to call in the white coats and have you hauled off just like Blanche DuBois.”

My mother clapped her hands together enthusiastically. “Benjamin called, didn’t he?”

“Yes. And I can guarantee he won’t call again.”

“Well, Isabel, there goes your raise.”

“You weren’t going to give me a raise.”

“Yes, I was. If you went out with Benjamin. But now, nothing.”

“I can get my own dates, Mom.”

My mother rolled her eyes and said, “Of course you can,” then switched subjects, since she knew nothing was going to change. She would continue fixing me up with lawyers and I would continue dating men who could comp my drinks.

“I’m taking you off the Spark Industries background work tomorrow and giving you a surveillance job,” Mom said.

“New client?”

“Yes. Mrs. Peters. Called last week. She suspects her husband, Jake, might be gay.”

“Did you suggest she ask him?”

Mom laughed. “Of course not. Business is slow.”

I returned to my apartment and reviewed the materials for the following day’s surveillance.

At 10:15 that night, I heard rattling on the fire escape. I turned the lights off in my bedroom and carefully peered through the curtains. I caught sight of Rae’s legs wiggling through the window into her room. I quickly slipped on a pair of sneakers, defenestrated myself, and climbed down the fire escape. I crawled through Rae’s window before she had a chance to take off her shoes.

“I have a door, Isabel.”

“Then why aren’t you using it?”

“Cut to the chase,” she said like a cowboy in an old Western.

“Surveillance isn’t a hobby.”

“What’s your point?”

“You have to stop following complete strangers.”

“Why? You do it all the time.”

“I follow people when I’m paid to do it. Get the distinction?”

“I like it enough to do it for free.”

“We give you as much work as we can.”

“Not as much as I used to get.”

“You could get hurt, Rae.”

“I could get hurt playing squash.”

“You don’t play squash.”

“Not the point.”

“You could follow the wrong person and get kidnapped or murdered.”

“Unlikely.”

“But not impossible.”

“If you’re talking about me quitting cold turkey, it is not going to happen,” Rae said as she slipped into a chair behind her desk.

I sat down across from her. “How about you cut back?”

Ray scribbled on a square notepad, folded the paper into quarters, and slid it across the desk. “How does this number work for you?”

“You need to spend less time with David,” I said, commenting on her technique. When I unfolded the paper, I practically shouted, “Ten percent?”

“The point of writing it down is so you don’t say it out loud.”

“Yeah? Well, ten percent does not work for me.”

Rae pushed a pen and notepad across the table. “I’m willing to negotiate.”

I chose to play it her way, since I knew we’d be negotiating the method for hours if I didn’t. I wrote down my number, folded the paper, and slid it back to her.

Rae laughed incredulously. “Not in this lifetime.” She jotted down her own number and slipped it back to me. “Let’s see how this works for you.”

“Fifteen percent? You can’t be serious.”

“You’re doing it wrong! Don’t say it out loud.”

I wrote down my own number again and held it up for her to see: forty percent. “Rae, I’m not leaving this room until you agree to that.”

Rae mulled it over and figured there had to be a way she could make that work.

“If I trim my recreational surveillance by this number, then I’ll need to compensate for it in other ways.”

“Where are you going with this?”

“At least one day a week, you take me on one of your jobs.”

“If that’s how you want to spend your weekends.”

“And holidays and administrative half days.”

“It’s a deal.”

After we shook on it, Rae confidently suggested, “How does tomorrow work for you?”



According to Mrs. Peters, Jake Peters was playing tennis the next morning with an unidentified male whom she believed to be his lover. The job would begin at the San Francisco Tennis Club. Mrs. Peters had already followed her husband to that site on a number of occasions and there was no need to risk getting burned for a ten-minute drive from the Peterses’ home to the club.

In the morning, I drank coffee with my mom and went over the case file on Mr. Peters, which included the schedule Mrs. Peters provided for her husband. Between my second and third cup, and right after my mom said, “Maybe you’d be less snippy if you cut down on that stuff” and I replied with, “Please don’t use the word ‘snippy,’ it doesn’t suit you,” Rae hopped downstairs wearing white shorts, a pink Izod shirt, and socks with pom-poms, carrying a Wilson aluminum tennis racket.

“Mom, do I look okay?” asked Rae.

My mother glowed with approval. “Perfect,” she said.

“Rae, you’re wearing a pink shirt,” I observed, praying for a logical explanation.

“I’m not blind,” she replied, reaching for the Froot Loops. I was about to protest, but remembered it was Saturday. Rae shook the box, hearing the weak resonance of powdered sugar. She poured the leftovers into the bowl, which offered up not even one solid loop.

“Bastard!” Rae shouted.

“Rae, Grandma was married when she had your uncle,” my mother corrected.

“Sorry,” Rae said, then replaced the prior insult with “big fat jerk.”

“Thank you,” my mom said, as if a lesson had really been learned here. “Sweetie, look on the bottom shelf in the storeroom behind the paper towels.”

Rae burrowed in the nether regions of our pantry and surfaced with a box each of Cap’n Crunch and Lucky Charms. My mother, brilliant at anticipating potential conflict, had bought a secret stash. Sometimes she amazed me.

“I love you,” Rae said more sincerely than you might imagine.

“I thought you wanted Froot Loops,” I said.

“I didn’t know I had options,” Rae replied, pouring herself two separate bowls of sugar.

I knew the answer to the question as I was asking it. “So what’s up with the outfit, Rae?”

Rae turned to our mother before she answered. My mom nodded the go ahead, you can talk nod.

“Mom’s invoking section five, clause d.”

Rae was speaking of the Spellman Investigations Employment Contract. All employees (full-time or seasonal) are required to sign it. Like my family itself, the contract alternates between reasonable employer dictums and wildly unabated whims. Section 5, clause (d) falls into the latter category. Essentially, the clause in debate states that Albert and Olivia have random wardrobe control whenever a case requires some element of camouflage. A tennis club falls into that category. When I reached maturity and was required to sign the contract, once again, I negotiated an addendum stipulating that section 5, clause (d) could be invoked no more than three times in a twelve-month period. My parents added another stipulation, which specified that if I breached this clause, they could fine me five hundred dollars. (This was added when the threat of firing me proved ineffectual.) The contract has been drafted and redrafted throughout the years by my brother. Therefore, it is legally binding and my mother insists that should any part of it be breached, she will enforce the fines.

Even so, I had to protest. “No. No,” I said, tossing my coffee into the sink and running upstairs to my apartment.

“If I were you, I’d shave my legs,” my mother shouted after me. I could feel a lump forming in my throat.

I found the outfit hanging on my front door. All crisp and white and painfully short. I’d never worn a tennis dress before—mostly because I’ve never played tennis. But if I did play tennis, I can guarantee I would never willingly wear the dress. I showered and shaved my legs (for the first time in two months). For about ten minutes, I stared in the mirror, trying to stretch the skirt out and diminish my posture so it would appear longer. Nothing worked. I pulled an extra-large gray sweatshirt out of my drawer and headed downstairs.

David was waiting in the foyer when I reached the bottom landing. At first he emitted only a hearty chuckle, but when my father joined him and doubled over, the two lost complete control and began laughing so convulsively it occurred to me they might need medical attention.

I walked into the kitchen and poured more coffee. My father and David remained in the foyer, apparently still paralyzed with hysteria. Uncle Ray entered the kitchen and looked me over inquisitively. He kindly remained nonreactive. He simply observed, “Section five, clause d?”

I nodded my head and told my sister to get her stuff. My mother stood in the corner, sipping her coffee with a satisfied grin. David and my father finally learned how to walk again and met us in the kitchen.

David turned to my mom and said, “You were right, Mom. It was totally worth it.” Then he handed me his tennis bag and suggested I not lose it.

“You need to get a life. All of you,” I snapped as I headed outside.

Rae quickly ran after me, racket in hand. I stopped in my tracks and looked over my shoulder at her.

“Tell me the truth,” I said. “How much is my ass hanging out?”

“How much is it supposed to?” Rae asked.

I tied the sweatshirt around my waist and got in the car.







THE TENNIS WAR (TENNIS 101)



Rae and I entered the San Francisco Tennis Club minus the snobbish questioning we had anticipated. I suppose, in our crisp, white outfits, we passed for the country club set. Based on David’s brief floor-plan tutorial, Rae and I headed up to the second level. A clean, wood-floored hallway encircled the building, offering a glassed-in overhead view of the four courts below. The airy space between the concrete floor and the wood beams above offered an odd mix of echo and silence. The pings of the balls bubbled through the building, but voices, conversations, the things you really wanted to hear, remained mute and impenetrable.

I showed Rae the picture of Jake Peters and she spotted him immediately on the bottom middle court. We returned to the main level and found our way to the four-tiered bleachers dividing the courts. We sat to the left of center, pretending to observe two middle-aged women in outfits more immodest than mine.

But it was Jake we were really watching as he performed a slow but legal serve. His opponent responded with an even slower backhand.

“Who’s the other guy?” Rae asked, pointing at Jake’s weak but remarkably handsome opponent. While there were many things to notice about this man, it was his legs that were hardest to ignore. They were the color of cocoa, brilliantly set off by his white shorts. His sinewy muscles subtly contoured his long, elegant limbs, which were almost feminine, but never crossing that subjective line. The man was dark, but not swarthy, with a strong brow that highlighted a pronounced Roman nose.

“What are you staring at, Isabel?” Rae said, snapping me out of my daze.

“Nothing. Can you tell who is winning?”

Rae and I continued watching the painfully slow rally, accompanied by Olympian efforts and awkward stumbles.

“When you play as bad as this, who cares?” Rae said.

Something about this game seemed all wrong—suspicious, in fact. When we finally heard the score after the first set, it was Jake who was ahead four games to three.

In the realm of all things possible in this world, Jake beating his dark, handsome opponent was possible. However, Jake was a forty-eight-year-old man who—by his wife’s own admission—had only started playing tennis three months ago. His legs were scrawny, his belly was not. His arms, especially the serving arm, revealed no identifiable muscle category. So the idea that he was beating a man at tennis who was ten years his junior and had evidently exercised in recent years seemed off.

That said, we were not here to observe Jake’s tennis game. We were here to observe whether Jake seemed in love with his tennis opponent. He did not. He seemed eager to beat him, eager to shout out forty-love, but he in no way seemed eager to hop into the sack with him. And I can personally guarantee that if he were gay, that would be the foremost thing on his mind.

“Why do you keep staring at that guy? Do you know him?”

“No.”

“Do you want to?”

“What are you talking about?”

“You know,” she said in her annoyingly knowing way.

“Shut up, Rae.”

For forty-five minutes, Rae and I watched what would have gone down in history as the dullest tennis game ever if more people had witnessed it. We observed underhand serves and lobs so slow the ball appeared frozen in midair. We watched full-grown men beat themselves with their own tennis rackets and trip on their own shoelaces. When the game mercifully ended with Jake Peters a two-set victor, he leapt over the net and fell flat on his face.

His cocoa-legged opponent shook Jake’s hand as he helped him to his feet. He said, “Nice game,” without even a hint of bad sportsmanship.

Jake patted his opponent on the back and offered a compliment, trying to cultivate the easy confidence of a winner. The act seemed as unnatural as walking on water.

The mismatched men parted ways without a hint of longing on either side. I began to wonder what had garnered Mrs. Peters’s distrust. We could tell her that, simply, she was wrong, that she should look within herself for her own suspicions. But that would leave both her heart and pocketbook empty. She wanted more information, and for what she was paying, I was willing to give it to her.

Rae and I lagged behind our subject as he exited the court and passed through the hallway into the men’s locker room. I told Rae to sit in the foyer and keep her eyes peeled for Mr. Peters. She adjusted the volume on her radio and pulled out a newspaper. I turned back and looked at my sister briefly. She had been using the “reading the newspaper” foil for years. It always struck me as being silly, almost a parody—especially when she was eight or nine and would choose the business section of the Chronicle. But this was the first time I looked at her, newspaper folded in half, eyes darting between the pages and her environment, and it somehow appeared legitimate.

As I walked toward the hallway to the locker rooms, I saw the cocoa-legged opponent in the hallway talking with a preppy gentleman wearing a royal-blue shirt and powder-blue wristbands. His pricey cologne floated above the sweaty air. I quickly bent before the water fountain, trying to remain unnoticed.

“Daniel, you got time for another game?” said Preppy Gentleman. “Frank got called into surgery and had to cancel. I have the court.”

Daniel. Daniel. I had a name now for Cocoa Legs.

“I was heading back to the office,” Daniel said.

Now I knew Daniel had an office. You see how this whole PI thing works?

“Come on, you killed me the last time. Let me redeem myself.”

Perhaps I am stating the obvious, but this conversation was very wrong. Daniel couldn’t beat Jake Peters, but he could beat a preppy guy who gave the impression that he came out of the womb with a tennis racket? Since my water consumption was brimming on ridiculous, I walked over to the pay phone as the men finished their conversation.

“All right,” Daniel said. “You have one hour for payback. That’s it.”

I don’t imagine that I am the only person to notice the details. But I am the only one I know who would forgo her responsibilities to discover an explanation for an errant one.

I returned to my sister in the foyer and told her to keep her eyes peeled for Jake and to stay off the radios. They were too awkward in the club.

“Call my cell when he comes out of the shower.”

“Where are you going?”

“I have to check on something,” I said as I grabbed a section of her newspaper.

I returned to the courts and once again sat down on the adjoining bleachers.

Daniel served and the preppy lunged for the ball but couldn’t make the return: 15-love. Daniel served again. This time Preppy returned the serve and a sharp manic volley followed, which ended with Preppy landing an out-of-bounds shot: 30-love. I was, without a doubt, observing an entirely different tennis player. I couldn’t tear my eyes away from the game. It was as compelling as the previous game was dull. I kept watching, hoping to construct a logical explanation, but there was none. This was simply schizophrenic tennis playing.

My phone was set to vibrate and I picked up.

“Subject is on the move,” Rae said.

I knew I couldn’t break away.

“Can you handle him on your own?” I asked, knowing this was irresponsible.

“Of course,” Rae said, already out the door. “Mom gave me cab money just in case.”

I briefly reconsidered what I was doing, but instead I said, “Keep your cell phone on, stay in public, and don’t do anything that is going to piss me off. Got it, Rae?”

“I got it.”



I began to feel too conspicuous sitting down on the bleachers for so long. So I returned to the upper level and entered the bar, sitting by the window and observing the rest of the game. I could no longer hear the scorekeeping, but the result of the match was obvious and I was more confused than ever.

I returned to the bottom level and waited for Daniel to exit the locker room. I called Rae on her cell phone.

“Rae, where are you?”

“I’m outside the Mitchell Brothers O’Farrell Theatre in the Tenderloin. Subject entered the establishment approximately ten minutes ago. I tried to go inside, but they didn’t buy my fake ID.”

“That’s because you are fourteen.”

“But my ID says I’m twenty-one.”

“Stay put, don’t talk to strangers, and I’ll be there as soon as I can.”

“Izzy, I think this is a strip club, with women strippers.”

“It is,” I replied.

“You know what I’m thinking?” asked Rae.

“No.”

“I don’t think Mr. Peters is gay.”

“Yes. I would agree.”



Daniel, freshly showered and wearing blue jeans, a worn T-shirt, and flip-flops, exited the locker room and headed upstairs. I should have returned to my sister, but I needed an explanation and followed him instead.

Daniel sat down at the bar and ordered a beer. Not wasting any time, I sat down next to him. He turned to me slightly and smiled. Not the smile of a pickup artist, but the friendly open smile of one person acknowledging another’s presence. Up close I could see that his heavy-lidded eyes were the lightest shade of brown. His almost black hair, still damp and fragrant from some fantastic shampoo, formed a perfect cowlick over his forehead. His teeth were straight and unstained, but without the glare and perfection of your average talk show host. Suddenly I realized I had been staring way too long.

When the bartender served Daniel his drink, I woke myself from this daze and laid some bills on the counter.

“I’m buying,” I said.

Daniel turned to me. “Do I know you?” he asked without a hint of suspicion.

“Definitely not.”

“But you want to buy me a drink?”

“It’s not exactly free.”

“How do you mean?”

“I’m offering a simple exchange. I buy you a beer, you answer a question. How does that sound?”

“I’d like to hear the question first,” he said, not touching his beer.

“You played two tennis matches this morning. The first one was against a man in his late forties who was substantially out of shape. Neither of you appeared to be skilled at the sport. I found this odd, since this is an exclusive tennis club, which implies that it caters to people who know how to play the game. Had one or the other of you been a capable opponent, that would have eased my curiosity.”

“Of course.”

“You lose the match against the inept opponent and you demolish the capable one.”

“‘Demolish.’ I like the sound of that.”

“So now it’s time for you to explain.”

“Some people need to win and some people need to lose,” Daniel said, taking a sip of his beer.

The simplicity of the answer took me aback. The fact that a man would use tennis as a leveler of the universe struck me as, well, beautiful. I am unaccustomed to immediate and unabated crushes. But I was experiencing one at that moment.

“That’s it?” I asked, preparing for my getaway.

“That’s it.”

“What’s your name?” I asked, still planning on moving from the barstool.

“Daniel Castillo.”

“What do you do?”

“I’m a dentist.” It was like a punch in the stomach, like I was being punished for everything I had ever done wrong.

“Day off?” I asked, certain that the color had drained from my face.

“Yes. Saturday and Sunday, just like everybody else.”

“Well, have a nice day,” I said as I was halfway out the door.



Daniel caught up with me outside, just as I’d reached my car.

“What was that back there?” he asked.

“Is there a problem?”

“What is your name?”

“Isabel.”

“How about a last name?”

“I don’t give out that kind of information.”

“What do you do?”

“What do you mean?”

“For a living. What do you do?”

From the moment that I said it and since, I have regretted and paid for the following response.

“I’m a teacher.”

I said it because, well, men like teachers. I said it because if I told him what I really did, he would be uncomfortable. He would be concerned that I had been tailing him. He would want to know what I was doing at the tennis club and I would not be able to tell him. So saying “teacher” seemed so much easier at the time.

“You don’t seem like a teacher.”

“Why is that?” I said, somewhat offended.

“I don’t think you have the patience for it.”

“You’re quick to judge.”

“Can I interest you in a game of tennis?”

“No. I don’t play.” Since I was wearing a tennis dress, had been previously observed in a tennis club, and was carrying a racket, this was not the smartest response. I had to change the subject fast.

“I’ll see you around, Doc,” I said and quickly got into the car.

Daniel slowly turned and walked away. I watched him until he disappeared through the entrance of the club. The entire time all I was thinking was, Could this be Ex-boyfriend #9?

Rae was talking to a couple of prostitutes when I pulled up outside the Mitchell Brothers O’Farrell Theatre. She said good-bye to Tiffani and Dawn when she got into the car. I sent Rae into a liquor store and let her stock up on candy for our stakeout. We ate bridge mix, licorice, and cheese puffs as we watched men of varying ages, sizes, and colors enter and exit the establishment, like waves lapping against the sand.

“The cheese puffs are too messy for the car, Rae.”

“But we needed some substantial food.”

“There is nothing substantial about a cheese puff,” I said as I tossed a chocolate-covered filbert out the window.

“That’s so wasteful, Isabel.”

“Nobody eats the filberts.”

“I would.”

“When?”

“In an emergency.”

“What kind of emergency are you talking about?”

“The kind where you run out of the almonds and the cashews and the peanuts and everything but the filberts.”

“And how would that happen?”

“Uncle Ray moves in and eats everything but the filberts.”

“Wouldn’t you prefer that he just eat the whole bridge mix rather than everything but the filberts? I mean, the filberts sitting there alone, don’t they just remind you of what you’re missing?”

“No. I’d still want the filberts for an emergency.”

“What planet are you from?”

“Earth.”

“That was a rhetorical question, Rae.”

“So what?”

“So you’re not supposed to answer them.”

“No. You don’t have to answer them, but you can if you want.”

This argument could have gone on indefinitely, but the subject was moving, and so were we.

That evening Rae and I worked on the surveillance report together, demolishing the entire bag of bridge mix (filberts included). Our mother phoned Mrs. Peters and explained to her that Mr. Peters was definitely of the heterosexual persuasion and suggested couples counseling. I remained in the office until midnight, finishing some paperwork.

I told myself I wasn’t going to do it, but I did. Daniel Castillo is a fairly common name, but not so common when you can tie him to a dental practice. By 1:00 A.M., I had a Social Security number, date of birth, marital status (single), as well as his business and home addresses. I promised myself that this was a thing of the past. This thing I did. This thing my mother did to me. But I had to know more about Daniel Castillo and learning about him the ordinary way was both unreliable and time-consuming.

Petra was giving me one of her quarterly I can no longer be seen in public with you haircuts when I asked the question I was planning on asking her all week.

“When’s the last time you went to the dentist?”

“I don’t know. About a year, maybe.”

“Don’t you think it’s time you had your teeth cleaned?”

“I could ask you the same question.”

“I can’t go to this dentist.”

“What are we talking about here?”

“I met a dentist,” I blurted out before I was really ready to say it.

“A dentist? Are you crazy?”

“I like him. I just have to make sure he’s worth it.”

Staged Dental Appointment #1

Petra made a 3:00 P.M. appointment for the following Monday at the offices of Daniel Castillo, DDS. The deal was that I would pay for the cleaning and she would carefully integrate nine previously prepared questions into casual conversation. The criterion for my questions was to cover ground that I could not uncover through background research and short-term surveillance. I expected some protest when I handed her the neatly typed sheet of paper, but Petra didn’t balk. She memorized the nine questions, then headed inside.

Two hours later, we met at the Philosopher’s Club and ordered drinks. I had insisted Petra bring a recorder into the examination room, so I could listen to the proceedings without the filter of her shoddy memory.

“Are you ready?” she said, one eyebrow held aloft in wicked anticipation. She turned on the tape recorder.

[click of recorder]



P. CLARK: This is Petra Clark speaking. It is a foggy Thursday afternoon and I am about to visit the offices of Daniel Castillo, DDS, for the purposes of spying on him for one Isabel Spellman.

DR. CASTILLO: Hello, Ms. Clark. I am Dr. Castillo.

P. CLARK: Nice to meet you, Doctor.

DR. CASTILLO: This is your first time here, I see. Can I ask how you were referred?

P. CLARK: Who remembers those things?

DR. CASTILLO: Okay. How is your memory on your last cleaning?

P. CLARK: I’ve had better.

DR. CASTILLO: I meant, do you recall when you had your last cleaning?

P. CLARK: About a year ago. I remember because it was right after my divorce. Have you been divorced, Doctor? [Question #3]

DR. CASTILLO: (clearing his throat) Um, no. I have not. Shall we get started?

P. CLARK: Are you married? [Question #2—single status already established, question asked to gauge reaction.]

DR. CASTILLO: No. Please open wide.

[Dr. Castillo puts on a pair of latex gloves and examines patient’s mouth.]

P. CLARK: [indistinguishable grunting noises]

DR. CASTILLO: Did you say something?

P. CLARK: Do you prefer local or general anesthesia? [Question #5]

DR. CASTILLO: Ms. Clark—

P. CLARK: I insist you call me Petra.

DR. CASTILLO: Petra, no anesthesia should be necessary for this procedure.

P. CLARK: Oh, I know. I just mean, generally speaking, which do you prefer?

DR. CASTILLO: It depends on the individual situation. However, I prefer to use a local whenever possible. I can’t clean your teeth unless you open your mouth.

[thirty seconds of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Please rinse.

[sound of spitting]

P. CLARK: But isn’t there something to be said for having a patient totally knocked out? [follow-up to Question #5]

DR. CASTILLO: Yes, there is.

P. CLARK: Have you always lived in the Bay Area, Doctor? [variation on Question #6—Where are you from?]

DR. CASTILLO: I was born in Guatemala. My parents and I moved here when I was nine. I need you to open your mouth again.

[thirty seconds of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Please rinse.

[sound of spitting]

P. CLARK: So you’re bilingual? [Petra Question #1]

DR. CASTILLO: Yes. Tell me about your flossing regime.

P. CLARK: Often.

DR. CASTILLO: Is that every day?

P. CLARK: No. But it seems like it. Are you depressed? [Petra Question #2]

DR. CASTILLO: No. Why do you ask?

P. CLARK: I heard dentists have emotional problems.

DR. CASTILLO: I’m fine, thanks. But I appreciate your concern.

P. CLARK: It was my pleasure.

[sound of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Please rinse.

[sound of spitting]

P. CLARK: Have you ever had a problem with drugs or alcohol? [Question #7]

DR. CASTILLO: Do you work for the Chronicle or something?

P. CLARK: No. I’m a hairstylist. Here’s my card. So—drugs, alcohol?

DR. CASTILLO: No thank you. I’m good for now, Ms. Clark. You know, this would go a lot faster if I didn’t have to keep telling you to open your mouth.

[sound of cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Please rinse.

[sound of spitting]

P. CLARK: So, Doctor, what do you do for fun? [Question #4]

[sound of sighing]

DR. CASTILLO: I play tennis.

P. CLARK: Other than tennis?

DR. CASTILLO: I’m a dentist. What more fun do I need?

P. CLARK: So you like inflicting pain? [Petra Question #3]

DR. CASTILLO: Your questions are making me uncomfortable.

P. CLARK: Forgive me, Doctor, I’m just a very curious person. Are you Catholic?

[variation on Question #9—Religious orientation]

DR. CASTILLO: Yes.

P. CLARK: Do you believe in a woman’s right to choose? [Petra Question #4]

DR. CASTILLO: I beg of you, please open your mouth.

P. CLARK: That sounded a little naughty, don’t you think?

[sound of sighing]

DR. CASTILLO: Do you want to have your teeth cleaned or not?

P. CLARK: Why else would I be here?

DR. CASTILLO: Frankly, I don’t know.

[long pause]

DR. CASTILLO: Are you going to keep it open?

[inaudible grunting noises; sound of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Please rinse and don’t speak afterward.

[sound of spitting]

P. CLARK: So are you aggressive or conservative?

DR. CASTILLO: Excuse me?

P. CLARK: With your taxes. Do you file aggressively or conservatively?

[Question #8]

DR. CASTILLO: [flat-out annoyed tone] I don’t see how that is any of your concern.

P. CLARK: You’ve had your fingers in my mouth for the last twenty minutes. I think I’m entitled to a little bit of personal information.

DR. CASTILLO: I’m conservative. We’re in the final stretch here, Ms. Clark.

Open wide.

[sound of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Rinse.

[sound of spitting]

MS. CLARK: Do you ever date your patients? [Question #1]

DR. CASTILLO: No. Absolutely not. Never. [long pause] Don’t make me tell you again.

[inaudible grunting noises, indicating that patient has opened her mouth and will keep it open; sound of teeth cleaning]

DR. CASTILLO: Rinse.

P. CLARK: You seem tense, Doctor.

DR. CASTILLO: It’s been a long day.

P. CLARK: Some people use porn to unwind. [noninterrogative version of scrapped Question #10: Do you like porn?]

DR. CASTILLO: Thank you for coming in, Ms. Clark. Please check out at the front desk with Mrs. Sanchez.

[sound of door opening and closing]

P. CLARK: This is Petra Clark signing off from the offices of Daniel Castillo, DDS.

[end of tape]



“I thought we decided not to ask about the porn?”

“It felt right, so I thought I’d go for it.”

“It didn’t sound right.”

“He is so out of your league,” Petra said, popping another pretzel.

“I know,” I replied, without taking any offense. I’ve never been the kind of girl to let that sort of thing get in the way. I credit my years of rejection to hardening me to the word “no.” I just don’t hear it the way other women do.

“You’re going to have to try to act normal,” she said.

“Already working on it.”

“Any relationship you had with him would be based on a lie.”

“But other than that, it could work out, right?”



Within two weeks, I had reduced Daniel’s life to a single-page reference sheet:






	Monday:
	Office
	(8:00 am to 4:00 pm)



	 
	Tennis
	(5:30 pm to 7:30 pm)



	 
	Home
	(8:00 pm to 7:00 am)



	Tuesday:
	Office
	(8:00 am to 3:00 pm)



	 
	Varying activities with 11 year old boy1

	 



	 
	 
	(4:00 pm to 8:00 pm)



	Wednesday:
	Office
	(8:00 am to 4:00 pm)



	 
	Tennis
	(5:30 pm to 7:30 pm)



	 
	Home
	(8:00 pm to 7:00 am)



	Thursday:
	Office
	(8:00 am to 4:00 pm)



	 
	Dinner with assorted males
	(6:00 pm to 7:30 pm)



	 
	Poker with assorted males2

	(7:30 pm to 12:00 am)



	Friday:
	Office
	(8:00 am to 4:00 pm)



	 
	Tennis
	(5:30 pm to 7:30 pm)



	 
	Drinks/dinner with friends
	(9:00 pm to 11:00 pm)



	Saturday:
	Tennis
	(10:00 am to 12:00 pm)



	 
	Miscellaneous activities3

	(1:00 pm to 12:00 am)



	Sunday:
	Lunch with mother4

	(11:00 am to 2:00 pm)



	 
	Miscellaneous activities5

	(3:00 pm to 7:00 pm)



	 
	Home
	(8:00 pm to 7:00 am)




Two things became unmistakably clear after my two-week surveillance on Daniel Castillo: He was definitely going to be Ex-boyfriend #9 and I had to learn tennis.

I promptly began lessons with a Swede whose advertisement I found in a trendy café across the street from Dolores Park. Stefan said I was a natural, but I’m unclear whether that was his flirty style of instruction or simply an observation. What I know is that I practiced hard and learned to keep score and bought dark blue shorts and a white top that made me feel like an imposter but not, thankfully, an exhibitionist. Within a month I was as good as Daniel had been when he played Jake Peters. I determined it was time to return to the San Francisco Tennis Club. There was only one glitch: David.

My brother put his feet up on his desk and leaned back, getting comfortable for what he believed was going to be a long, amusing conversation at my expense.

“Can we go over this one more time?” he said.

“I don’t see what the big deal is. I just want you to meet me at the San Francisco Tennis Club on Saturday at ten A.M. sharp. We’ll play a game of tennis. I’ll buy you lunch. Why can’t you just say ‘I’d love to, Isabel’ like a normal brother would?”

“Since when do you even play tennis?”

“I took it up about a month ago.”

“He must be something.”

“I don’t know what you’re talking about.”

“I’m sorry, Izzy, I’m busy Saturday morning.”

“Next Saturday?”

“Still busy.”

“He’s not a bartender, I swear.”

My brother’s secretary buzzed the office: “David, your sister Rae is here to see you.”

“Send her in.”

Rae entered the office and promptly demanded an explanation for my presence. I, in turn, demanded an explanation for hers, knowing full well she was here for her weekly shakedown. Rae hopped up on the corner of David’s desk and handed him a typewritten sheet of paper. David reviewed the sheet, crossed out a line, and reached for his wallet. “I’m not paying for the snacks. You never buy anything healthy.”

“What if I can provide you with a receipt?”

“No deal. You’ll just trade receipts. On this point, I defer to your sister. We’ve got to get you off the candy.”

David offered Rae a twenty-dollar bill and demanded three dollars in change.

“Does Izzy want money, too?” Rae asked David.

“No, Izzy wants me to help her snag a guy, except I don’t approve of her methods.”

“What methods?” Rae asked innocently.

“She stalks them first. Finds out every detail of their life and insinuates herself into it until they have no choice but to ask her out.”

“Why don’t we use the word ‘investigating,’” I offered.

“What’s wrong with that?” said Rae. “She’s just trying to find out something about them first before she gets involved.”

A stunned David turned to me for a response.

“Don’t defend me, Rae.”

“Why not? It makes total sense,” she said more casually than I can bear to describe.

“You should never do that. Ever.”

“Do as I say, not as I do,” mocked David.

I leaned back on his couch, withered from the conversation, flattened by the prospect that I am, once again and always, setting an example.

“David, tell her how it’s supposed to be done,” I mumbled.

“Rae, women—other than your sister—when they are attracted to a member of the opposite sex—or the same sex, depending on preference—introduce themselves in some capacity. They smile, they wave, they offer up their business card, or a scrap of paper with their phone number on it, or they ask for a phone number. They make their intentions known and hope that the other party responds. They don’t follow the person around for a couple of weeks, learning said person’s schedule, assessing his moral character, ensuring that no surprises will arise should they ever begin dating. Relationships entail some element of the unknown. You cannot escape that, no matter how hard you try.”

A bored Rae responded, “David, Mom has already given me the ‘Don’t be like Isabel’ speech. And while yours focused more on dating than marijuana abuse, it’s all the same. Thanks for the cash. I love you.”

She kissed him on the cheek, having learned when she was young that he was the man with the deep pockets. In an act of parity, she walked over to the couch, lifted the pillow off my face, and did the same.

“’Bye, Izzy. I’ll see you later,” she said and left me alone, once again, with my judgmental older sibling.

I slowly sat upright on the couch, suddenly feeling as though I weighed three hundred pounds. I got to my feet and put on my coat.

“See you later, David,” I said sluggishly.

“Saturday, ten A.M. sharp at the club,” he replied, and some of that extra weight lifted.



The debriefing, required on both sides prior to entering the tennis club, consumed approximately twenty minutes. My instructions involved David not speaking unless being spoken to, David not revealing any information regarding family, career, or previous relationships. He was not allowed to correct information I gave or offer information to another party about me. David’s only rule was that if he observed any illegal behavior, he would call the police.

We flipped a coin and I served first. It was a legal serve, but David refused to return it. He motioned with his racket for me to meet him at the net.

“You said you’ve been playing about a month.”

“Right.”

“That was quite a serve.”

“Thanks. Do you want to play or what?”

“Let’s go.”

“Fifteen-love.”

I served again. David returned with a moderate lob, which gave me enough time to land a powerful backhand that cut diagonally across the court, which David decided to miss. We rallied for a few more minutes and then David called me to the net again.

“What’s the deal, Izzy? Remember, I’ve actually seen you in PE class. Your hand-eye coordination was average at best.”

“Well, Stefan would disagree with you.”

“Nobody gets this good in one month.”

“It’s probably been more like five weeks now. But I have taken several lessons and I practice on my days off.”

“How many lessons?”

“About twenty-five or so.”

“In a month?”

“Yes. Give or take.”

David shook his head and returned to the edge of the court. Before he served, he had to put his two cents in. “There is something very, very wrong with you.”

While it is true that I had become quite the tennis player in one month’s time, I was still no match for David, especially when he was determined to humiliate me.

David won two straight sets, 6-0, 6-0, barely breaking a sweat. I, on the other hand, looked like a tornado victim by the time we reached the bar on the top level. I had a few minutes to reiterate the rules to David before I knew, based on historical evidence, that Daniel would arrive.

“This is important, David. Please don’t use this time for payback.”



Daniel entered the Match Point Bar and Café as David was ordering our drinks. It occurred to me that consuming alcoholic beverages before noon might come off as suspect, but it was too late. Daniel spotted me on his way to the bar.

I was trying to conjure the appropriate expression under the circumstances. A double-take, perhaps, a look that says, Don’t I know you from somewhere? not Statistically speaking, I have been expecting to see you, but now that I have, I’m not sure what to say. I had not yet managed to plant any safe expression on my face when Daniel sauntered over.

“I was wondering if I’d see you here again.”

“Oh, hello” was my clever response. I could feel myself freezing up, words jumbling in my head, my heel tapping uncontrollably on the floor. Then David arrived, handed me a beer, and saved me from certain humiliation.

“Hi, I’m David. Are you a friend of Izzy’s?”

“Izzy?”

“Isabel. This one sitting right here.”

“We met some time ago.”

“Would you like to join us?” David asked.

Daniel was about to say no, automatically assuming that David was my boyfriend and not my brother. Our resemblance being so meager, that is a common misconception. Although, with women, the misconception is often accompanied by audible remarks such as Wow, she must have done something right in a past life.

“Oh, no, thank you. I don’t want to intrude.”

“Sit down,” insisted David. “I’ve talked to my sister enough for one day.”

I often record conversations that involve my family to evidence disparaging remarks. Sure, David was doing me a favor, but favors in my family are often a recipe for disaster. I turned on my palm-size digital recorder, just in case.

The transcript reads as follows:



DANIEL: Let me get a drink. I’ll be right back. You both good?

DAVID: I’m fine. Although, Izzy drinks fast, so you might get her another beer. Ouch.

ISABEL: No. I’m fine. Thanks.

[Daniel goes to the bar]

DAVID: He’s not your type.

ISABEL: I like him. Therefore, he is my type.

DAVID: Let me rephrase. You’re not his type.

ISABEL: How do you know?

DAVID: I know.

ISABEL: How?

DAVID: Men like that like women who pluck their eyebrows.

ISABEL: I pluck.

DAVID: Biannually doesn’t count.

ISABEL: I pluck plenty and you’d have to look really close to notice when I don’t.

DAVID: I just don’t see you two together.

ISABEL: David, if you sabotage this, I swear to you—

DAVID: Isabel, you’ve invaded this man’s privacy for two weeks straight. I’d say you’re well on the way to sabotaging this all by yourself.

[Daniel returns with two beers]

DANIEL: I got an extra, just in case.

DAVID: Smart man. So, Daniel, how do you know my sister?

DANIEL: We met a few weeks ago, was it?

ISABEL: Something like that.

DAVID: Are you sure it wasn’t more like five weeks?

DANIEL: Perhaps.

ISABEL: I borrowed his pass. David’s pretty good at remembering details.

DAVID: I remember because that’s when Izzy decided to take up tennis.

DANIEL: Do you prefer to be called Izzy or Isabel?

DAVID: Just call her Izzy. Why waste your time with the extra syllable?

ISABEL: Either one is fine.

DAVID: So how did you and Izzy end up talking that day, approximately five weeks ago?

DANIEL: Your sister had a question regarding a tennis match I played.

DAVID: What kind of question?

DANIEL: Let’s just say Isabel is very observant.

DAVID: You have no idea. Ouch.

ISABEL: I’m sorry. Was that your leg?

DAVID: You know damn well it was.

ISABEL: I apologize. So, Daniel, what brings you here today?

DANIEL: I play in a dentists’ league, so I had a few matches this morning.

DAVID: You’re a dentist?

ISABEL: I thought we weren’t going to talk about work.

DAVID: You’re a dentist?

DANIEL: Yes, I’m a dentist.

DAVID: Did you know that, Isabel?

ISABEL: Yes, I did, David.

DANIEL: So, David, what do you do?

DAVID: I’m a lawyer. Corporate. Mergers and acquisitions. That sort of thing. Did my sister tell you her profession?

DANIEL: Yes, she did. When we first met.

DAVID: So you know? Ouch.

DANIEL: Yes. I know.

ISABEL: I’m a teacher, David. Why would I keep that a secret?

DAVID: A teacher? I had no idea. I mean, I have no idea why you’d keep that a secret.

ISABEL: Actually, I’m a substitute. But once I get my credentials, then I’ll probably look for a full-time position.

DAVID: Or you could join the family business. Ouch. Isabel, do you understand that when you share a table with others that also implies sharing the space beneath the table?

ISABEL: I’m sorry. Was that you?

DANIEL: What is the family business?

ISABEL: Teaching. We’re all in the business of education.

DAVID: Not me. I think I’ll have that beer, if you don’t mind.

ISABEL: No, that’s my beer. Go get your own.

DAVID: You know, I think I’ll call Mom and ask her how her teaching career is going. Ouch. You should have the tic in your leg looked at. You might have a neurological disorder.

ISABEL: David, there’s a pay phone over there. Go.

[David limps over to the pay phone]

DANIEL: Your brother doesn’t have a cell phone?

ISABEL: He does. I was just trying to get rid of him.

DANIEL: Are you two always like that?

ISABEL: Like what?

DANIEL: I believe you were kicking him quite a bit.

ISABEL: David has a tendency to say inappropriate things. I was simply trying to keep him in check.

DANIEL: I see.

ISABEL: It’s really quite exhausting.
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